
Leon County Research and Development Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting 

Collins Building 
2051 East Paul Dirac Drive 

Tallahassee, FL 32310 
 

August 3, 2021 
11:00am to 1:30pm 

 
Agenda 

The meeting will be live streamed on our Facebook page at: https://www.facebook.com/InnovationParkTLH.  Due to 
the ongoing Coronavirus/COVID-19 pandemic, anyone wishing to address the Committee may appear in person 
(attendance in the room may be limited) or submit written comments by 9:00am the day before the scheduled meeting 
date so that the comments can be distributed to the committee members. Comments submitted after this time (up to 
the time of the meeting) will be accepted and included in the official record of the meeting. Email comments to: 
publicinput@inn-park.com  and reference the meeting title and date in the subject line. Include your name and contact 
information. All times are approximate. 

1. Call to Order 

2. Introduction of Guests & New Staff Member 

3. Approval of Participation by Electronic Means 
In accordance with the Bylaws, there being a quorum of members present in person, the members of 
the Board present in person are required to approve participation by those participating via Electronic 
Means acknowledging that the COVID-19 pandemic constitutes extraordinary circumstances.  

4. Modifications to the Agenda 

5. Public Comment 
Any public comment received prior to the meeting will be provided to the Board members in addition 
to any in-person public comment. 

6. Approval of Draft Meeting Minutes, June 1, 2021 (Attachment A) 

7. Consent Agenda 
a. Treasurer's Report (Attachment B) 
b. Monthly Financial Reports 

i. May 2021 Link: https://innovation-park.com/wp-content/uploads/2021/06/05.21-Monthly-
Report-Innovation-Park.pdf 

ii. June 2021 Link: https://innovation-park.com/wp-content/uploads/2021/07/06.21-Monthly-
Report-Innovation-Park.pdf 

c. Investment Reports (Attachments C1 and C2) 
i. May 2021 

ii. June 2021 
d. NFIL Oversight Committee Report (Attachments D1 and D2) 
e. Executive Committee Report (Attachment E) 

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 1 of 170

https://www.facebook.com/InnovationParkTLH
mailto:publicinput@inn-park.com


f. RFP 21-02 Asphalt Paving Services (Attachments F1-F5)  
Staff received two responses to RFP 21-02 for Asphalt Paving Services to repair and resurface the 
parking and driveway services surrounding the Collins, Morgan, and Johnson buildings.  A 
summary of pricing proposals and the responses are attached.  The low bidder’s proposed price 
was $192,115. The proposed prices are valid for 90 days through October 5, 2021. The approved 
budget for the project was $89,385 and based on a cost estimate prepared in mid-2020. Staff 
believes that higher than budgeted costs are due to COVID impacts on supply chain and labor 
costs. Executive Committee requests ratification of its decision to refer the issue to the Budget 
Committee, which meets in September, to consider the impact on the Budget for next year and to 
make a recommendation to the Executive Committee which meets in September. Considering that 
the proposals expire before the October Board meeting, the Executive Committee also requests that 
the Board authorize the Executive Committee to execute an agreement with the low bidder, prior 
to expiration of the proposal, at its discretion and considering the recommendation of the Budget 
Committee. 
 

g. Ratification of Equipment Purchase and Payment Using Knight Grants Funds (Attachments G1-
G4) 
The Executive Committee requests ratification of its decision to ratify the Executive Director’s 
decision to sole source purchasing used lab equipment and to pay for the equipment via ACH 
with $35,000 in grant funds.  The grant deadline was 6/30/21 after previously receiving an 
extension due to COVID.  Recent staff turnover delayed identification of equipment specifications 
that were finished just prior to the deadline after soliciting input from current lab tenants. Used 
equipment was selected to try to maximize the equipment purchased and a sole source purchase 
was made because of the challenges comparing specs and conditions of each piece. The used 
equipment dealer was recommended by a lab tenant who has previously purchased from the 
supplier, and the tenant also provided input as to the appropriate cost of equipment.  The vendor 
required payment in advance. To meet the grant deadline payment was made via ACH.  The ACH 
payment was initiated electronically by the Executive Director and approved electronically by 
Talcor’s Director of Property Accounting.   
 

h. Florida Job Growth Fund Infrastructure Proposal (Attachment H) 
The Executive Committee requests ratification of its decision to authorize the Executive Director 
to sign and submit a Florida Job Growth Grant Fund Infrastructure Proposal and to execute any 
related award agreements. The attached proposal was subsequently signed and submitted.  
  

    --- END CONSENT AGENDA --- 

8. North Florida Innovation Labs (NFIL) Cost Estimate and Funding Options (Attachment I-To be 
provided as a supplement) 
Architects have provided the attached preliminary cost estimate for the NFIL facility. Based on 
existing funding of approximately $17 million, this estimate indicates an approximately $6.2 million 
funding shortfall. Staff will present funding options under consideration, recommendations from the 
NFIL Oversight Committee, and steps taken to-date to attempt to fund the shortfall. The University 
Financing Foundation (TUFF) will present its proposed terms to provide funding for consideration 
by the Board of Governors. Staff requests direction regarding pursuing funding from TUFF. 

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 2 of 170



 
9. Election of Officers – Melissa VanSickle, General Counsel 

Bylaws section 2.5(a). The election of the Officers of the Authority shall occur at the last meeting of the 
Board each fiscal year, with the term in office to begin October 1 of the next fiscal year. All Officers 
shall hold office strictly at the pleasure of the Board. General Counsel will present a slate of candidates, 
accept nominations from the floor, and conduct the vote for Chair, Vice Chair and Treasurer.  

10. Treasury Management-ACH Payments/Wire Transfer Policy (Attachments J1-J3) 
Staff requests approval of policy and bylaws amendments to permit the Executive Director and 
Talcor’s Director of Property Accounting (authorized staff) to pay any amounts owed by the authority 
via electronic ACH payments or wire transfer, or to wire transfer funds between its bank and 
investment accounts.  The bank’s treasury management security controls require all electronic ACH 
payments and wire transfers to be initiated by authorized staff and approved by the other authorized 
staff. Amounts over $10,000 shall require authorization of two Board officers emailed to both 
authorized staff with the email authorization documentation retained with each such invoice.  Bylaws 
changes to remove the checks section have been reviewed and approved by Counsel.  
 

11. Bank Resolution and other officer authorizations effective October 1, 2021 (Attachment K) 
Staff requests the Board’s adoption of the attached bank resolution for all Authority bank accounts, 
effective October 1, 2021, authorizing the newly elected officers of the Board of Governors and the 
Executive Director to exercise the powers listed on the resolution, and approval for the officers to 
execute any other forms necessary to perform credit card authorization, wire transfers and investment 
related transactions consistent with policies, procedures, and bylaws of the Authority. 
 

12. Chair’s Report 
 
13. Staff Reports 

a. Executive Director (Attachment L1) 
b. Director of North Florida Innovation Labs (Attachment L2) 
c. Property Manager (Attachment L3)   

 
14. New Business 
 
15. Adjourn 

 
UPCOMING MEETINGS AND EVENTS 

 
Executive Committee Meeting 
Tuesday, September 21, 2021 

11:00am – 1:00pm 
 

TechGrant 2021 
Thursday, October 21, 2021 

5:00pm – 7:30pm 
Goodwood Museum & Gardens Carriage House 

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 3 of 170



Leon County Research and Development Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting 

Collins Building 
2051 East Paul Dirac Drive 

Tallahassee, FL 32310 

June 1, 2021 
11:00am to 1:30pm 

DRAFT Minutes 

Members in Attendance In-Person: Kimberly Moore, Tom Allen, Ray Bye, John Dailey, Kristin Dozier, 
Sonjoy Goswami, Eric Holmes, Anne Longman, Shawnta Friday-Stroud. 

Members in Attendance Virtually: Keith Bowers, Dave Ramsay. 

Members Not in Attendance: None. 

Guests: Mary Jo Spector, FSU Research Facilities Design, Construction and Maintenance; Melissa 
VanSickle, Nelson Mullins Broad & Cassel; Stephanie Shoulet, NAI Talcor; Ron Miller, Bill Lickson, 
Naomi Molina, Peggy Bielby, LCRDA Staff. 

1. Call to Order
Chair Kimberly Moore called the meeting to order at 11:03am.

2. Introduction of Guests
All present introduced themselves.

3. Approval of Participation by Electronic Means
In accordance with the Bylaws, there being a quorum of members present in person, the members of
the Board present in person are required to approve participation by those participating via Electronic
Means acknowledging that the COVID-19 pandemic constitutes extraordinary circumstances.
Kristin Dozier offered a motion to approve participation by electronic means. Tom Allen seconded the

motion which passed unanimously.

4. Modifications to the Agenda
None.

5. Public Comment
None.

6. Approval of Draft Meeting Minutes, April 1, 2021
Kevin Graham offered a motion to approve the meeting minutes. Ray Bye seconded the motion which

passed unanimously.

7. Consent Agenda
a. Treasurer's Report
b. Monthly Financial Reports

Attachment A 
Page 1 of 4

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 4 of 170



i. March 2021  
ii. April 2021 

c. Investment Reports  
i. March 2021 

ii. April 2021 
d. Compensation Committee Report  
e. NFIL Oversight Committee Report  
f. Executive Committee Report  
g. Telework Policy  

The Compensation Committee recommended the attached policy, modeled after Leon County’s 
Telework Policy and reviewed by Authority counsel, to provide direction regarding employee’s 
working away from the Authority offices.  
The Executive Committee requests ratification of its approval of the Compensation Committee’s 
recommended amendment of the Employee Policy to include a Telework Policy.  

h. Family and Medical Leave Act Policy  
The Compensation Committee recommended the attached policy, modeled after a sample policy 
from the Society of Human Resource Managers and reviewed by Authority counsel, to comply with 
Federal Family and Medical Leave Act requirements.  
The Executive Committee requests ratification of its approval of the Compensation Committee’s 
recommended new Family and Medical Leave Act policy.  

i. Executive Director Evaluation Form  
The Compensation Committee reviewed the Executive Director Evaluation Form and recommended 
changes to be included in the current evaluation year. It further recommended that specific financial 
related goals be adapted into the form before the beginning of the next fiscal year.  
The Executive Committee requests ratification of its approval of the Compensation Committee’s 
recommended changes to the Executive Director Evaluation form.  

j. Elevator Modernization Consulting Services 
The Board of Governors previously approved a budget item of $70,000 for fiscal year 2021 to 
modernize the elevator in the Morgan Building. The same amount is expected to be budgeted in 
2022 to modernize the elevator in the Johnson Building. The current year budget did not include 
funds for unanticipated but necessary consulting services for the development of a technical scope 
of work and other services necessary for the development of a Request for Proposals to perform the 
modernization and oversight of the project.  
The Executive Committee requests ratification of its approval of a budget not to exceed $15,000.00 
to solicit informal bids to perform consulting services for the development of a technical scope of 
work and other services necessary to develop an RFP for the modernization of the Morgan and 
Johnson elevators, and that the Executive Director find budget adjustments to offset this added cost. 

k. RFP 21-02 Paving Services  
The Executive Committee requests ratification of its approval of RFP 21-02 for Paving Services as 
further described in the solicitation and in accordance with the budget previously approved by the 
Board of Governors. 

l. Legal Services Contract Amendment  
General Counsel’s prior firm, Clark, Partington, et al. (now Nelson Mullins Broad and Cassel), was 
originally contracted for services October 1, 2014. Since that time, the Authority has agreed to 

Attachment A 
Page 2 of 4

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 5 of 170



annual renewals without any increase in hourly rates.  Counsel proposed rate increase terms and has 
agreed to the Executive Committee’s counter proposal as reflected in the attached Amendment. 
The Executive Committee requests ratification of its approval of the proposed Legal Services 
Contract Amendment with Nelson Mullins Broad and Cassel which increases hourly rates from $250 
to $300, $200 to $220, and $90 to $125, for Partners, Associates and Paralegals, respectively.  It 
also extends the term of the contract two years with two additional one-year options at the same 
rates.  
Ray Bye offered a motion to approve the consent agenda items. Kristin Dozier seconded the motion 

which passed unanimously. 
 

8. North Florida Innovation Labs Plan — Bill Lickson 
Director Bill Lickson provided an update regarding initial program development planning for the North 
Florida Innovation Labs, best practices, prospecting, fundraising, equipment, and a design and 
construction update. 
 

9. Committee Roles Discussion — Chair Moore 
Chair Kimberly Moore facilitated a discussion regarding potential adjustments to the role of the 
Investment Advisory Committee and the potential need for new committees, including a new Finance 
Committee potentially combining the functions of the Budget and Investment Advisory Committees. 
The intent would be to better utilize the community professionals who currently serve on Investment 
Advisory and to expand revenue generating opportunities. Ron Miller, Anne Longman and Tom Allen 
will work together to provide some recommendations at the next Board of Governors meeting. 

 

10. Chair’s Report 
a. Return to in-person meetings: After discussion it was agreed that members feel comfortable 

returning to in-person meetings but would like to preserve the option to Zoom. Before lunch resumes 
staff will provide a survey to determine whether attendees prefer to pay a one-time contribution, or 
the Authority furnishes lunch, and how to serve it.  

b. Officers for next year: Anyone interested in serving as an officer for FY 2021-2021 should contact 
Ron Miller. Kevin Graham has agreed to serve as chair if elected, leaving the Vice Chair and 
Treasurer positions to fill.  

 

11. Staff Reports 
a. Executive Director Ron Miller reported that he is working on completion of EDA required site 

certification. The IPTLH 501(c)(3) application has been submitted to the IRS. He has requested the 
construction schedule from Danfoss to plan for expenditure of the OEV MOU funds on milestone 
dates. He will explore minimal renovation of the Collins Building 10k sf unrenovated space as there 
has been interest in leasing it, and Florida Department of Agriculture extended its lease for 5 years. 

b. Director of Marketing & Engagement Naomi reported that she is moving into a new position later 
in June. On June 15 TechTopics will feature WeatherStem and WeatherTiger. TechGrant finalist are 
announced tomorrow, and planning for an in-person event on Oct. 21 is underway. Tallahassee Start-
up Week is Nov 8 -12 and she and Bill have been involved on the planning. She thanked everyone 
for the opportunity to work together, and Ron Miller noted she had done a great job under very 
challenging circumstances. 

Attachment A 
Page 3 of 4

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 6 of 170



c. Property Manager Stephanie Shoulet reported on occupancy, non-routine repairs and maintenance 
including paving and elevator bids. 
 

12. New Business 
None. 
 

13. Adjourn 
The meeting was adjourned at 12:42pm. 

 
 

UPCOMING MEETINGS AND EVENTS 

 
 

TechGrant Finalists Announced 
Wednesday, June 2, 2021 

 

 
TechTopics 

Tuesday, June 15, 2021 
11:00am – 12:00pm 

 
 

NFIL Oversight Committee Meeting 
Wednesday, July 14, 2021 

8:00am – 10:00am 
 

 
Executive Committee Meeting 

Tuesday, July 20, 2021 
1:00am – 1:00pm 

 
 

Board of Governors Meeting 
Tuesday, August 3, 2021 

11:00am – 1:30pm 
 

 

 
Executive Committee Meeting 
Tuesday, September 21, 2021 

11:00am – 1:00pm 
 

TechGrant 2021 
Thursday, October 21, 2021 

5:00pm – 7:30pm 
Goodwood Museum & Gardens Carriage House 

 

Attachment A 
Page 4 of 4

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 7 of 170



 

 

 
 

 

 

 

            
 

 
              

            
              

 

 

Attachment B 
Page 1 of 2Leon County Research and Development Authority 

Treasurer's Report 

August 3, 2021 

The following is a summary of the more significant items relating to financial position, financial operations, 
and the budget: 

For the months ending 5/31/2021 6/30/2021 
and the year-to-date through 6/30/2021 9 months thru 

1) Balance Sheet 
Increase/ (Decrease) 

Changes for the month: 5/31/2021 6/30/2021 

Operating cash 1 $ 47,981 $ (50,445) 

NFIL Construction 2 $ 5 $ 498,002 
Receivables $ (26,102) $ (521) 

Property 3 $ - $ 38,340 
Accumulated depreciation and amortization $ (23,852) $ (23,852) 

Investments 4 $ 2,068 $ 2,116 
Total assets $ (1,672) $ 463,116 

Total liabilities 5 $ 26,667 $ 447,116 
Total capital $ (28,339)  $ 16,001 

1. 5/31 reduction in A/R and increase in A/P.  6/30 Purchase of lab equipment, and reduction in A/P. 
2. 6/30 Received $500k from FSURF and paid $2k in permit fees. 
3. 6/30 NFIL Construction $2k; Lab Equipment $36k 
4. Normal interest income 
5. 6/30 $500k unearned revenue from FSURF matching contribution payment; Grant Revenue earned $35k 

2) Income Statement 
YTD Month 

6/30/2021 5/31/2021 6/30/2021 
Interest income $ 26,168 $ 2,149 $ 1,953 

Net operating income (loss) 1 $ (37,922) $ (4,487) $ 39,853 
(before depreciation & amort.) 

Less: Depreciation & amort. (214,670) (23,852) (23,852) 
Net income (loss) $ (252,592) $ (28,339) $ 16,001 

1. 6/30 Grant Revenue-Lab equipment grant revenue earned $35k 

3) Cash Flow Statement 
All Cash 

5/31/2021 6/30/2021 
Beginning balance $ 239,305 $ 287,291 

Net change 47,986 447,557 
Ending Balance: 

Operating Account+Petty Cash 195,497 145,052 
NFIL Construction Account 91,794 589,796 

Ending balance $ 287,291 $ 734,848 
Cash is adequate to meet current cash disbursement needs.  

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 8 of 170



                      

                        

                      

                        

                          

                      

                          

                      

                        

                          

                        

Leon County Research and Development Authority 
Treasurer's Report 

August 3, 2021 
4) Budget Comparison Statement 

a) Revenues: 

Attachment B 
Page 2 of 2

Revenue Variances Year-to-Date thru: 6/30/2021 

Actual $ 748,119 
Budgeted 796,327 

Variance Favorable (Unfavorable) $ (48,208) 

Variance breakdown: 

Rent 1 

Operating expense reimbursement 2 

Interest income 

Grant revenue 3 

TechForce and other program revenue 4 

All other 5 

$ 

$ 

37,272 

(24,986) 
(5,126) 

(54,805) 

(8,151) 

7,588 
Variance Favorable (Unfavorable) $ (48,208) 

1. CareerSource Capital Region lease 
2. Operating expense reimbursement budgeted ($26k) for FSU share of elevator refurb, but corresponding 
expense not yet incurred. 
3. Grant revenue not yet earned. $55k with FAMU in discussion about how we can use the funds--$15k of 
which is expected to be invoiced in July/Aug. 
4 TechForce program not held due to insufficient interest, and TechGrant sponsorships delayed due to COVID 
delayed program 

5 Trail construction prepayment refund $5.3k--will likely be expended on washout remediation 

b) Operating Expenses (before Depreciation and Amortization): 
Operating Expenses Year-to-Date thru: 6/30/2021 

Budgeted 
Actual 

Variance Favorable (Unfavorable) 

$ 

$ 

1,038,242 
786,041 
252,201 

Operating Expense Variances 
Year-to-Date thru: 6/30/2021 

Favorable/ 
(Unfavorable) 

Payroll 1 $ 14,026 

Utilities 1,419 

Repairs/Maintenance 2 158,767 

Cleaning & Improvements 3 (6,657) 

Services 1,776 

Property Administration 4 82,871 

Total Favorable (Unfavorable) Variance $ 252,201 
1. Vacant position salary and benefits and comp changes 
2. Elevator refurb ($72k) and parking lot resurface ($96k) not yet completed 
3. Morgan 2nd floor carpet and paint for new tenant 3 year lease + hallway ($26k); NPS Painting budgeted 
deferred to next year by tenant ($20k) 
4. Grants for lab equipment capitalized ($35k); Not yet expended: Program Expenses ($11.7k), Travel ($3.6k), 
TechGrant Awards moved to next fiscal year October ($25k) 

Respectfully submitted, Sonjoy Goswami, Treasurer 
Leon County R&D Authority 

Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 
Page 9 of 170



For the Month:

SECURITY OWNED BALANCE BOM EARNINGS ADDITIONS DEDUCTIONS BALANCE EOM YIELD

FL PRIME 1,123,721.93$     105.87$        -$                    -$  1,123,827.80$         0.111%

SPIA 2,364,393.99       2,027.20       - - 2,366,421.19           1.007%

3,488,115.92$     2,133.07$     -$  -$  3,490,248.99$         0.720%

For the Fiscal Year Beginning October 1:

SECURITY OWNED BALANCE BOP EARNINGS ADDITIONS DEDUCTIONS BALANCE EOP YIELD

FL PRIME 1,372,274.96$     1,552.84$     -$                    250,000.00$       1,123,827.80$         0.173%

SPIA 2,343,976.79       22,444.40     - - 2,366,421.19           1.436%

3,716,251.75$     23,997.24$   -$  250,000.00$       3,490,248.99$         0.966%

SPIA Available Balance (see security description for minimum balance requirements) 948,883.40$            
Investments Designated for Capital Projects (North Florida Innovation Labs) 1,600,000.00$         
Undesignated Investments 1,890,248.99$         

NOTABLE ADDITIONS OR DEDUCTIONS TO ACCOUNTS:

Note:  Security descriptions shown on reverse

LEON COUNTY RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY

INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO

For period ending May 31, 2021

4/2021 Withdrawal $250k to fund $200k for North Florida Innovation Labs A&E, and $50k for major maintenance and repair

Attachment C1 
Page 1 of 2

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 10 of 170



SECURITY DESCRIPTIONS:



 SPIA – Florida Treasury Special Purpose Investment Trust – The Florida State Treasury operates a special investment 
program for public entities other than the State.  This program is authorized in Section 17.61(1), Florida Statutes and is 
called the Treasury Special Purpose Investment Account (SPIA).    Component units of the State, Universities, or Colleges 
that are created by the Florida Constitution or Florida Statutes are eligible to invest in SPIA. Current non-component unit 
participants, like the Authority, are allowed to stay in the program with capped investment limits and a minimum balance 
equal to 60% of the previous 3 months average balance. Liquidations in excess of the minimum balance require 6 months’ 
notice.  SPIA funds are invested in the same portfolio as Treasury funds, so the pool of funds has a stable base of funds (over 
85% of the funds are captive trust funds) not needed for immediate disbursement.  These funds are invested in a combination 
of short-term liquid instruments and intermediate-term fixed income securities.  This “barbell” investment strategy, along 
with incremental income produced by securities lending, has the ability to return higher yields than a typical money market 
fund.  Participants have the ability to invest and obtain fund withdrawals same day with an 11:00 a.m. deadline for notifying 
the Treasury.  The SPIA maintains a credit rating of A+f by Standard & Poor’s.

FL PRIME - SBA Florida Prime - The Local Government Surplus Funds Trust Fund (Florida PRIME) was created by an Act 
of the Florida Legislature in 1977 and currently serves over 800 participants across the state. Invests exclusively in short-
term, high-quality fixed-income securities rated in the highest short-term rating category by one or more nationally 
recognized statistical rating organizations, or securities of comparable quality. Seeks to maintain a $1.00 value and maintain 
a weighted average maturity of 60 days or less, with the maximum maturity of any investment limited to 397 days.  Rated 
AAAm by Standard & Poor's, the highest rating available for a local government investment pool. Complies with legislation 
that requires numerous operational and reporting enhancements, including restating investment objectives to emphasize 
safety, liquidity and competitive returns with minimization of risks; and providing for enhanced internal controls, 
transparency and communication. Federated Investors has managed the assets of Florida PRIME to the exact specifications 
of its investment policies since February 13, 2008.

Attachment C1 
Page 2 of 2

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 11 of 170



For the Month:

SECURITY OWNED BALANCE BOM EARNINGS ADDITIONS DEDUCTIONS BALANCE EOM YIELD

FL PRIME 1,123,827.80$     88.83$          -$                    -$  1,123,916.63$         0.096%

SPIA 2,366,421.19       1,856.82       - - 2,368,278.01           0.955%

3,490,248.99$     1,945.65$     -$  -$  3,492,194.64$         0.678%

For the Fiscal Year Beginning October 1:

SECURITY OWNED BALANCE BOP EARNINGS ADDITIONS DEDUCTIONS BALANCE EOP YIELD

FL PRIME 1,372,274.96$     1,641.67$     -$                    250,000.00$       1,123,916.63$         0.164%

SPIA 2,343,976.79       24,301.22     - - 2,368,278.01           1.382%

3,716,251.75$     25,942.89$   -$  250,000.00$       3,492,194.64$         0.930%

SPIA Available Balance (see security description for minimum balance requirements) 949,628.81$            
Investments Designated for Capital Projects (North Florida Innovation Labs) 1,600,000.00$         
Undesignated Investments 1,892,194.64$         

NOTABLE ADDITIONS OR DEDUCTIONS TO ACCOUNTS:

Note:  Security descriptions shown on reverse

LEON COUNTY RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY

INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO

For period ending June 30, 2021

4/2021 Withdrawal $250k to fund $200k for North Florida Innovation Labs A&E, and $50k for major maintenance and repair

Attachment C2 
Page 1 of 4

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 12 of 170



SECURITY DESCRIPTIONS:



 SPIA – Florida Treasury Special Purpose Investment Trust – The Florida State Treasury operates a special investment 
program for public entities other than the State.  This program is authorized in Section 17.61(1), Florida Statutes and is 
called the Treasury Special Purpose Investment Account (SPIA).    Component units of the State, Universities, or Colleges 
that are created by the Florida Constitution or Florida Statutes are eligible to invest in SPIA. Current non-component unit 
participants, like the Authority, are allowed to stay in the program with capped investment limits and a minimum balance 
equal to 60% of the previous 3 months average balance. Liquidations in excess of the minimum balance require 6 months’ 
notice.  SPIA funds are invested in the same portfolio as Treasury funds, so the pool of funds has a stable base of funds 
(over 85% of the funds are captive trust funds) not needed for immediate disbursement.  These funds are invested in a 
combination of short-term liquid instruments and intermediate-term fixed income securities.  This “barbell” investment 
strategy, along with incremental income produced by securities lending, has the ability to return higher yields than a typical 
money market fund.  Participants have the ability to invest and obtain fund withdrawals same day with an 11:00 a.m. 
deadline for notifying the Treasury.  The SPIA maintains a credit rating of A+f by Standard & Poor’s.

FL PRIME - SBA Florida Prime - The Local Government Surplus Funds Trust Fund (Florida PRIME) was created by an Act
of the Florida Legislature in 1977 and currently serves over 800 participants across the state. Invests exclusively in short-
term, high-quality fixed-income securities rated in the highest short-term rating category by one or more nationally 
recognized statistical rating organizations, or securities of comparable quality. Seeks to maintain a $1.00 value and maintain 
a weighted average maturity of 60 days or less, with the maximum maturity of any investment limited to 397 days.  Rated 
AAAm by Standard & Poor's, the highest rating available for a local government investment pool. Complies with legislation 
that requires numerous operational and reporting enhancements, including restating investment objectives to emphasize 
safety, liquidity and competitive returns with minimization of risks; and providing for enhanced internal controls, 
transparency and communication. Federated Investors has managed the assets of Florida PRIME to the exact specifications 
of its investment policies since February 13, 2008.

Attachment C2 
Page 2 of 4

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 13 of 170



0.00%

1.00%

2.00%

3.00%

4.00%

5.00%
7/
17

9/
17

11
/1
7

1/
18

3/
18

5/
18

7/
18

9/
18

11
/1
8

1/
19

3/
19

5/
19

7/
19

9/
19

11
/1
9

1/
20

3/
20

5/
20

7/
20

9/
20

11
/2
0

1/
21

3/
21

5/
21

A
nn
ua
li
ze
d 
R
et
ur
n

Leon County Research & Development Authority
Investment Yield

SPIA Annualized Return (Net) FL PRIME Annualized Return (Net)

SPIA 12 Mos. Moving Avg. FL PRIME 12 Mos. Moving Avg.

Attachment C2 
Page 3 of 4

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 14 of 170



 $‐

 $500,000.00

 $1,000,000.00

 $1,500,000.00

 $2,000,000.00

 $2,500,000.00

 $3,000,000.00

 $3,500,000.00

 $4,000,000.00

 $4,500,000.00
7/
17

9/
17

11
/1
7

1/
18

3/
18

5/
18

7/
18

9/
18

11
/1
8

1/
19

3/
19

5/
19

7/
19

9/
19

11
/1
9

1/
20

3/
20

5/
20

7/
20

9/
20

11
/2
0

1/
21

3/
21

5/
21

Leon County Research & Development Authority
Investments Balances

SPIA Ending Balance FL PRIME Ending Balance

Attachment C2 
Page 4 of 4

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 15 of 170



 
  

 
 

 

  
  

 

    

   

      
     

     
 

 
   

 

    
    

 
   

         

 
 

  
      

  

Attachment D1 
Page 1 of 3

Leon County Research and Development Authority 
NFIL Oversight Committee Meeting 

Collins Building Seminar Room 
2051 East Paul Dirac Drive 

Tallahassee, FL 32310 

July 14, 2021 
8:00am to 10:00am 

Report 

Members in Attendance: Kristin Dozier (chair), Tom Allen, Kevin Graham. 

Members Not in Attendance: None. 

Guests: Mary Jo Spector, FSU Research Facilities Design, Construction and Maintenance; Cam 
Whitlock, Architects Lewis + Whitlock; Ray Bye, LCRDA Board of Governors; Kevin Byrne, Victor 
Clements, Jordan Peterson, Anne Tomsky, The University Financing Foundation, Inc.; Ron Miller, Bill 
Lickson, Peggy Bielby, LCRDA staff. 

1. Call to Order 
Chair Kristin Dozier called the meeting to order at 8:02am. 

2. Introduction of Guests 
All present introduced themselves. 

3. Approval of Participation by Electronic Means (if needed) 
In accordance with the Bylaws, there being a quorum of members present in person, the members of 
the Board present in person are required to approve participation by those participating via Electronic 
Means acknowledging that the COVID-19 pandemic constitutes extraordinary circumstances. 
All members were present in person, so no vote was necessary. 

4. Modifications to the Agenda 
Ron Miller noted that Agenda Item 8. Project Cost Estimate would be presented before Agenda Item 
7. Design Development Phase Update. 

5. Public Comment 
None. 

6. Meeting Minutes—April 19, 2021 
Kevin Graham offered a motion to approve the draft meeting minutes. Tom Allen seconded the motion 

which passed unanimously. 

7. Project Cost Estimate 
Staff will present a preliminary project cost estimate and discuss funding options. 
Ron Miller reviewed the updated NFIL project budget; the EDA budget, estimate, and difference: 
$6.2 million. He presented four options to address the projected shortfall: 
1. The Florida Job Growth Grant Fund 
2. The University Financing Foundation, Inc. 

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 16 of 170



  
  

 
      

        
       

  
       

      
       

 
     

      

 
 

  
    

 

           
      

         
    

        
          

 
 

   
       

      
 

 
     
   

     
      

  
 

           

   
 

  
 

 

  
  

 

 

Attachment D1 
Page 2 of 3

3. Traditional bank-financed debt 
4. Private contributions and/or other grants 

Kevin Graham introduced Kevin Byrne, president and CEO of The University Financing Foundation, 
Inc. (TUFF) who explained that the foundation is a 501c3 not-for-profit developer and advisor 
specializing in programmatic real estate solutions. TUFF brings funding but also expertise and 
experience in building innovation communities. See attached presentation from TUFF. 
After discussion the Committee agreed that the Executive Committee and Board of Governors should 
review and consider the TUFF presentation and proposal. The Committee also agreed that other 
funding options should be considered, including additional EDA funding and CARES Act/ARPA 
funding. 
Tom Allen offered a motion to make a formal recommendation to the Executive Committee, to review 

each of the four funding options, with an estimated timeline for each. Kevin Graham seconded the 

motion which passed unanimously. 

8. Design Development Phase Update 
Staff and the project architect will present a progress update for the design development phase. 

Cam Whitlock explained the value engineering steps that have been taken with the design, staying 
within scope but making the project more efficient. He reviewed the site plans, elevations, fixtures, 
and floor plans and the resulting total building cost estimate of $23,251,143 yielding a $517psf cost. 
The Committee agreed that modifications to facilitate the future capability of building out the 3000sf 
space located on the second floor over the loading dock and machine shop should be added to the 
project at the estimated cost of less than $100psf. The Committee will meet again shortly after the 
August 3, 2021 Board meeting to address the Board’s direction. 

9. Payment Authorization Review 
The Committee previously directed that Section 4(b) of the Committee Policies and Procedures be 
reviewed by the committee in 60 days. The policy is presented for review at this, the next scheduled 
meeting. 

Ron Miller explained the proposed treasury management system which, if approved by the Board of 
Governors, will allow payment of invoices via ACH with controls that include requiring the executive 
director and the director of accounting to both execute any funds transfer. Ray Bye stated that under 
this system, he had no concerns about the Committee’s payment of invoices for the development in 
accordance with the proposed policies and procedures. 

Kevin Graham offered a motion to approve payment of invoices in the manner approved by the 

Board. Tom Allen seconded the motion which pass unanimously. 

10. New Business 
None. 

11. Adjourn 
The meeting adjourned at 10:26am. 

Ray Bye added a post-meeting comment: 

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 17 of 170



 
         

       
        

            
    

       
        

         
 

 
 
 

Attachment D1 
Page 3 of 3

“Conversations about new grants with State of FL and EDA should resolve any question (if TUFF has 
ownership) could TUFF propose and receive a new grant or could LCRDA submit without owning 
building. Also I said in meeting that EDA had 14 months to get CARES $ out and has over $1 Billion 
unexpended. Their focus will be to add funds to recently-awarded projects. True that money expires 
in 14 months, but EDA wants to move fast and they will/should remember about their deadlines in 
our award to start construction in February so they could make quick decision on a newly-submitted 
proposal (but namely, our earlier successful one). Also the electric lines, roads, other infrastructure 
outside of our building you mentioned at the meeting (even if that infrastructure also benefits 
Danfoss, FSU or other tenants) could be requested in our second proposal as legitimate costs as long 
as LCRDA owns the resulting infrastructure.” 

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 18 of 170



LCRDA / N FL Innovation Labs
Oversight Committee

July  14,  2021

Attachment D2 
Page 1 of 7

Attachment D2 
Page 1 of 7

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 19 of 170



TABLE OF CONTENTS

1. TUFF Overview

2. Current State

3. Transaction Summary

4. Additional Topics for Consideration with TUFF

5. Proposed Terms

Attachment D2 
Page 2 of 7

Attachment D2 
Page 2 of 7

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 20 of 170



TUFF Overview 
• TUFF is a non-profit real estate developer and advisor, focused on acquiring and delivering built-to-suit

facilities to create vibrant physical environments for research, education, and healthcare institutions

• Since 1982, TUFF has delivered facilities using tax-exempt capital, direct investment, and strategic
development counsel to institutions nationwide, spanning multiple projects and use types

• TUFF strives to be a trusted partner helping guide clients through a careful analysis of needs and helping
to find and execute on a tailored solution with meaningful results

• TUFF projects enhance institutional viability through lowered costs and reduced risk

• TUFF involvement in the project does not end with building completion, but instead TUFF remains
engaged to assist the client in successfully managing, activating and operating the property

• Sample TUFF-developed projects below:

TUFF Transaction Highlights

$1.6 Billion
Transaction Volume

55
Projects Completed

100+
Institutional Clients

$20+ Billion
Economic Impact

Representative Clients

1982
Founding Date

Attachment D2 
Page 3 of 7

Attachment D2 
Page 3 of 7

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 21 of 170



Current State

LCRDA

Member #1

Member #2

Member #3

Member #4

>> Shortfall of ~$4.0 - $5.0mm <<

N FL Innovation 
Labs (501c3)

Master lease of 
entire property / 

Operating contract
Membership 
agreement(s)

Membership fees

State of Florida

Subject to ground 
lease conditions

Rent based on 
contractual 
agreement

Ground lease land 
for project

$10.2mm from EDA
$2.5mm from FSU Research 

Foundation
$2.5mm from OEV

$1.8mm LCRDA funds
Total = $17.0mm

FAMU-Provided 
Staff

Property Manager
Operations 
Manager

ArchitectContractor Other Consultants

Attachment D2 
Page 4 of 7

Attachment D2 
Page 4 of 7

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 22 of 170



Transaction Summary

LCRDA

$10.2mm from EDA
$2.5mm from FSU Research 

Foundation
$2.5mm from OEV

$1.8mm LCRDA funds
Total = $17.0mm

N FL Innovation 
Labs (501c3)

TUFF LLC
(Owner and 
Developer)

~$4.0 - $5.0mm
(with some flexibility on 

amount)
Prepayment option

Total = $21.0 - $22.0mm

Master lease of 
entire property

Rent based on TUFF 
investment

Agreement(s)

Revenue

State of Florida

Subject to ground 
lease conditions

Long-term sub-ground 
lease of entire property

Subject to ground 
lease conditions

TUFF aggregates and 
contributes capital

ArchitectContractor Other Consultants

Ground lease land 
for project

FAMU-Provided 
Staff

Property Manager
Operations 
Manager

Membership

Rent

Grants

Sponsorship

Event-Based Fees

Cooperative Industry 
Programs

TUFF LLC

Attachment D2 
Page 5 of 7

Attachment D2 
Page 5 of 7

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 23 of 170



Additional Topics for Consideration with TUFF
• Be responsible for development and bring delivery expertise and cost-savings to project

o Including working with EDA and under the EDA-mandated delivery method

• Assist in creating additional revenue sources for 501c3 outside of membership fees

o Including rent, grants, sponsorships, event-based fees and cooperative industry programs

• Offer property management and operations management expertise

o Including implementing an activation program to enhance community and entrepreneurial activity

• Work with FSU and FAMU to assess opportunity for enhanced indirect cost recovery through research initiatives which lead to tech transfer

• Ensure connections and relationships with OEV, FAMU, FSU, and the broader Tallahassee and Florida communities

o Promote center of economic development in Florida

o Align academic institutions with the business community and the government to promote a center of innovation in Florida

Attachment D2 
Page 6 of 7

Attachment D2 
Page 6 of 7

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 24 of 170



Proposed Terms
1. Primary transaction agreement between TUFF LLC and LCRDA would be a sub-ground lease

o Sub-ground lease conveys all covenants and restrictions to which the land is subject

o Sub-ground lease is contemplated at nominal rent to reduce the financial burden on 501c3 and the operations of the innovation lab

o Sub-ground lease term can be any reasonable and financeable term (i.e. 40 or more years)

2. The leasehold interest in the land would convey development responsibility to TUFF LLC

o TUFF can assume the architect’s contract and engage with the contractor and other development consultants, as needed

o TUFF would be responsible to the 501c3 for delivery of the facility based on the specs in the facility lease described below, as well as the required timeline

o Development would be subject to all EDA development requirements and conditions

3. LCRDA would contribute existing raised capital to TUFF

o TUFF is an eligible EDA recipient

o LCRDA matching funds could be contributed through the master facility lease  

4. TUFF would enter into a master facility lease with the 501c3

o Lease would be for 30 years

o 501c3 would provide capital to TUFF to reduce rent

o Lease would be prepayable at anytime, which could eliminate the need for TUFF in the chain of tenancy

o If lease runs the entire 30 years, TUFF will convey the facility to 501c3 and thus remove TUFF from the sub-ground lease

5. Separately, TUFF can engage with 501c3 to enter into other arrangements, including:

o Property and activation management

o Operations consulting

o Marketing and leasing

o Revenue creation assistance

Attachment D2 
Page 7 of 7

Attachment D2 
Page 7 of 7

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 25 of 170



 
 

 
 

 
 

 
   
 

 
 

 
 

   
 

   
 

  
 

   
  

 

  
  

 

  
      

    
 

     
     

 

  
 

 

   
 

 
   

 

  

  
     

    
         

     

Leon County Research and Development Authority 
Executive Committee Meeting 

Collins Building 
2051 E Paul Dirac Drive 
Tallahassee, FL 32310 

Tuesday, July 20, 2021 
11:00am – 1:00pm 

Report 

Members in Attendance In-Person: Kimberly Moore, Kevin Graham. Sonjoy Goswami. 

Members in Attendance Virtually: Dave Ramsay. 

Members Not in Attendance: None. 

Guests: Ron Miller, Bill Lickson, Peggy Bielby (LCRDA Staff). 

1. Call to Order
Chair Kimberly Moore called the meeting to order at 11:02am.

2. Introduction of Guests
All present introduced themselves.

3. Approval of Participation by Electronic Means
In accordance with the Bylaws, there being a quorum of members present in person, the members of the
Board present in person are required to approve participation by those participating via Electronic Means
acknowledging that the COVID-19 pandemic constitutes extraordinary circumstances.
Sonjoy Goswami offered a motion to approve participation by electronic means. Kevin Graham seconded
the motion which was approved unanimously with Dave Ramsay not voting.

4. Modifications to the Agenda
None.

5. Public Comment
None.

6. Approval of Draft Meeting Minutes, May 18, 2021

7. RFP 21-02 Asphalt Paving Services
Staff received two responses to RFP 21-02 for Asphalt Paving Services to repair and resurface the parking
and driveway services surrounding the Collins, Morgan, and Johnson buildings. A summary of pricing
proposals and the responses are attached. The low bidder’s proposed price was $192,115. The proposed
prices are valid for 90 days through October 5, 2021. The approved budget for the project was $89,385
and based on a cost estimate prepared in mid-2020. Staff believes that higher than budgeted costs are due

Attachment E 
Page 1 of 3

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 26 of 170



      
 

  
            

 
        

   
       

 
        

     
           

  
    

       
   

 

   
      

    
     

     
  

      
 

      
 

 

    
    

       
     

    
      

        
       
             

         
   

 
      

           
   

 

to COVID impacts on supply chain and labor costs. Staff has identified the following options and 
recommends option 4: 

1. Accept the low bidder’s proposal and amend the budget to reflect the proposed price. 
2. Cancel the RFP and present to the Board to reissue an RFP when market conditions improve or 

indicate that they are not improving within 12 months. 
3. Cancel the RFP and solicit Informal Bids for less than $50,000 to repair the worst of the damaged 

surfaces and include in the next fiscal year budget the cost to resurface within 12 months. 
4. Refer the issue to the Budget Committee, which meets in September, to consider the impact on 

the Budget for next year and to make a recommendation to the Executive Committee which meets 
in September. Considering that the proposals expire before the October Board meeting, at the 
August 2021 Board meeting request that the Board authorize the Executive Committee to execute 
an agreement with the low bidder, prior to expiration of the proposal, at its discretion and 
considering the recommendation of the Budget Committee. 

5. Other recommendations of the Executive Committee. 
Kevin Graham offered a motion to refer the issue to the Budget Committee as set forth in Option 4 and 
recommended by staff. Sonjoy Goswami seconded the motion which passed unanimously. 

8. Treasury Management-ACH Payments/Wire Transfer Policy 
Staff requests approval of policy and bylaws amendments to permit the Executive Director and Talcor’s 
Director of Property Accounting (authorized staff) to pay any amounts owed by the authority via 
electronic ACH payments or wire transfer, or to wire transfer funds between its bank and investment 
accounts. The bank’s treasury management security controls require all electronic ACH payments and 
wire transfers to be initiated by authorized staff and approved by the other authorized staff. Amounts over 
$10,000 shall require authorization of two Board officers emailed to both authorized staff with the email 
authorization documentation retained with each such invoice. 
After discussion, the Committee directed staff to confer with the Authority’s general counsel and CPAs 
regarding the changes and to include the item on the next Board of Governor’s meeting regular agenda. 

9. Ratification of Equipment Purchase and Payment Using Knight Grants Funds 
The Executive Director requests ratification of his decision to sole source purchasing used lab equipment 
and to pay for the equipment via ACH with $35,000 in grant funds. The grant deadline was 6/30/21 after 
previously receiving an extension due to COVID. Recent staff turnover delayed identification of 
equipment specifications that were finished just prior to the deadline after soliciting input from current lab 
tenants. Used equipment was selected to try to maximize the equipment purchased and a sole source 
purchase was made because of the challenges comparing specs and conditions of each piece. The used 
equipment dealer was recommended by a lab tenant who has previously purchased from the supplier, and 
the tenant also provided input as to the appropriate cost of equipment. The vendor required payment in 
advance. To meet the grant deadline payment was made via ACH. The ACH payment was initiated 
electronically by the Executive Director and approved electronically by Talcor’s Director of Property 
Accounting. 
Kevin Graham offered a motion to ratify the Executive Director’s decisions and actions to sole source the 
purchase and to pay for the equipment via ACH. Sonjoy Goswami seconded the motion which passed 
unanimously. 

Attachment E 
Page 2 of 3

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 27 of 170



  
     
     

      
 

       
           

 
    

         
 

 

  
   

    
 

   
  

  
 

  
   

    
    

 
   

  
       

 

  
 

 

  
  

 

10. North Florida Innovation Labs (NFIL) Cost Estimate and Funding Options 
Architects have provided the attached preliminary cost estimate for the NFIL facility. Based on existing 
funding of approximately $17 million, this estimate indicates a $4 million funding shortfall. Staff will 
present funding options under consideration, recommendations from the NFIL Oversight Committee, and 
steps taken to-date to attempt to fund the shortfall. 
After discussion, the Committee requested that the four funding options reviewed be presented to the 
Board for consideration at its next meeting, including a Memorandum of Understanding from The 
University Financing Foundation. 
Sonjoy Goswami offered a motion to authorize the Executive Director to sign the Florida Job Growth 
Grant Fund Public Infrastructure Grant Proposal and to execute any related agreements if they grant is 
awarded to the Authority. Kevin Graham seconded the motion which passed unanimously. 

11. Chair’s Report 
a. Next Fiscal Year’s Slate of Officers 

Kimberly Moore reported that the slate of officers who have agreed to be nominated for Fiscal 
Year 2021-2022 is: 

Kevin Graham – Chair 
Tom Allen – Vice Chair 
Dave Ramsay - Treasurer 

12. Staff Reports 
a. Executive Director 

Ron Miller reported that the FY21/22 budget process is underway, the new Director of Marketing 
& Engagement is expected to start on July 26, 2021, and that multiple various potential grant 
sources are being pursued. 

b. Director of North Florida Innovation Labs 
Bill Lickson reported on additional grant applications including an SBA grant for STTR training, 
and his continued work with entrepreneurs including new incubator tenant Persica. 

13. New Business 
None. 

14. Adjourn 
The meeting was adjourned at 11:44am. 

Attachment E 
Page 3 of 3

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 28 of 170



 
 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 
 

  

Attachment F1 
Page 1 of 1

RFP 21-02 Asphalt Paving Services 

RFP Response List 

July 12, 2021 

The following companies have responded to RFP 21-02 along with their proposed pricing: 

1. Capital Asphalt, Inc.; $296,400. 
2. North Florida Asphalt, Inc.; $192,115. 

Submitted by: 

Ronald J. Miller, Jr. 
Executive Director 

2051 E. PAUL DIRAC DRIVE • TALLAHASSEE, FL • 32310 • 850-575-0343 • Innovation-Park.com 

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 29 of 170

https://Innovation-Park.com
https://Innovation-Park.com


Attachment F2 
Page 1 of 25

REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS 

ASPHALT PAVING SERVICES 

RFP NO. 21-02 

NORTH FLORIDA ASPHALT, INC. 

2908 PLANT STREET 

TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32304 

0# (850) 575-7228 

F# (850) 575-1835 

CONTACT: Jacob Dulworth, Estimator 

M# (850) 933-7376 
iacob@northfloridaasphalt.com 

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 30 of 170

mailto:iacob@northfloridaasphalt.com


Attachment F2 
Page 2 of 25

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 31 of 170



Attachment F2
Page 3 of 25

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 32 of 170



Attachment F2 
Page 4 of 25

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 33 of 170



Attachment F2 
Page 5 of 25

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 34 of 170



Attachment F2 
Page 6 of 25

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 35 of 170



Attachment F2 
Page 7 of 25

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 36 of 170



Attachment F2 
Page 8 of 25

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 37 of 170



Attachment F2 
Page 9 of 25

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 38 of 170



Attachment F2 
Page 10 of 25

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 39 of 170



Attachment F2 
Page 11 of 25

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 40 of 170



Attachment F2 
Page 12 of 25

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 41 of 170



Attachment F2 
Page 13 of 25

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 42 of 170



Attachment F2 
Page 14 of 25

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 43 of 170



Attachment F2 
Page 15 of 25

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 44 of 170



Attachment F2 
Page 16 of 25

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 45 of 170



Attachment F2 
Page 17 of 25

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 46 of 170



Attachment F2 
Page 18 of 25

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 47 of 170



Attachment F2 
Page 19 of 25

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 48 of 170



Attachment F2 
Page 20 of 25

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 49 of 170



Attachment F2 
Page 21 of 25

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 50 of 170



Attachment F2 
Page 22 of 25

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 51 of 170



Attachment F2 
Page 23 of 25

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 52 of 170



Attachment F2 
Page 24 of 25

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 53 of 170



Attachment F2 
Page 25 of 25

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 54 of 170



Attachment F3 
Page 1 of 32

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 55 of 170



Attachment F3 
Page 2 of 32

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 56 of 170



Attachment F3 
Page 3 of 32

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 57 of 170



Attachment F3 
Page 4 of 32

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 58 of 170



Attachment F3 
Page 5 of 32

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 59 of 170



Attachment F3 
Page 6 of 32

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 60 of 170



Attachment F3 
Page 7 of 32

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 61 of 170



Attachment F3 
Page 8 of 32

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 62 of 170



Attachment F3 
Page 9 of 32

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 63 of 170



Attachment F3 
Page 10 of 32

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 64 of 170



Attachment F3 
Page 11 of 32

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 65 of 170



Attachment F3 
Page 12 of 32

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 66 of 170



Attachment F3 
Page 13 of 32

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 67 of 170



Attachment F3 
Page 14 of 32

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 68 of 170



Attachment F3 
Page 15 of 32

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 69 of 170



Attachment F3 
Page 16 of 32

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 70 of 170



Attachment F3 
Page 17 of 32

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 71 of 170



Attachment F3 
Page 18 of 32

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 72 of 170



Attachment F3 
Page 19 of 32

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 73 of 170



Attachment F3 
Page 20 of 32

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 74 of 170



Attachment F3 
Page 21 of 32

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 75 of 170



Attachment F3 
Page 22 of 32

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 76 of 170



Attachment F3 
Page 23 of 32

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 77 of 170



Attachment F3 
Page 24 of 32

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 78 of 170



Attachment F3 
Page 25 of 32

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 79 of 170



Attachment F3 
Page 26 of 32

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 80 of 170



Attachment F3 
Page 27 of 32

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 81 of 170



Attachment F3 
Page 28 of 32

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 82 of 170



Attachment F3 
Page 29 of 32

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 83 of 170



Attachment F3 
Page 30 of 32

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 84 of 170



Attachment F3 
Page 31 of 32

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 85 of 170



Attachment F3 
Page 32 of 32

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 86 of 170



 

7/12/2021 10:34 AM
INNOVATION PARK (innvtion) 

Budget Comparison
Period = May 2021 

Book = Accrual 

YTD Actual  YTD Budget  Variance  Annual 
3000-0000  INCOME
3050-0000  INCOME - OPERATING
3110-0000

 Rent
546,408.24 516,910.40 29,497.84 743,568.56

3114-5000
 Operating Expense Reimbursement

4,635.31 29,648.00 -25,012.69 30,872.00
3115-0000

 CAM
41,720.40 41,722.00 -1.60 62,583.00

3220-0000
 Interest Income

24,214.36 28,095.00 -3,880.64 40,339.00
3305-0000

 TechForce Revenue
99.00 1,000.00 -901.00 1,000.00

3306-0000
 Other Program Income

8,250.00 15,500.00 -7,250.00 15,500.00
3306-0100

 Grant Revenue
195.00 90,000.00 -89,805.00 90,000.00

3310-0000
 Other Income

6,536.84 0.00 6,536.84 0.00
3315-0000

 Sales Tax Discount
55.65 0.00 55.65 0.00

3540-0000
 Electricity Pass Thru

173.36 0.00 173.36 0.00

3990-0000  TOTAL REVENUE 632,288.16 722,875.40 -90,587.24 983,862.56

4000-0000  OPERATING EXPENSES

4400-0000
 PAYROLL EXPENSE4401-0000
 Executive Director-Authority

103,333.28 103,336.00 2.72 155,004.00
4402-0000

 Director Business Inc
67,301.05 73,548.00 6,246.95 111,044.00

4403-0000
 Salary - Director PC

30,525.00 30,600.00 75.00 46,200.00
4404-0000

 Payroll Taxes - Authority
15,874.61 15,927.00 52.39 24,939.00

4405-0000
 Worker's Compensation-Authority

1,863.36 2,254.00 390.64 3,398.00
4406-0000

 Employee Benefits-Authority
60,597.54 64,235.00 3,637.46 96,651.00

4410-0000
 Wages - Administrative 

13,235.05 13,725.00 489.95 20,829.00
4490-0000  TOTAL PAYROLL EXPENSE 292,729.89 303,625.00 10,895.11 458,065.00

4600-0000
 UTILITIES4605-0000
 Electric

53,569.75 55,050.00 1,480.25 90,134.00
4620-0000

 Utility - Turn On Fees
37.00 0.00 -37.00 0.00

4625-0000
 Natural Gas

22.26 0.00 -22.26 0.00
4627-0000

 Natural Gas-Vacant
131.11 0.00 -131.11 0.00

Page 1 of 5

Attachment F4 
Page 1 of 5

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 87 of 170



7/12/2021 10:34 AM
INNOVATION PARK (innvtion) 

Budget Comparison
Period = May 2021 

Book = Accrual 

YTD Actual  YTD Budget  Variance  Annual 
4635-0000

 Refuse Collection
5,337.43 4,995.00 -342.43 7,283.00

4640-0000
 Water/Sewer

2,897.51 5,068.00 2,170.49 7,608.00
4642-0000

 Non CAM Water/Sewer
1,654.93 0.00 -1,654.93 0.00

4648-0000
 Irrigation - Utility

448.16 517.00 68.84 777.00
4649-0000

 Irrigation-NonCAM
342.48 0.00 -342.48 0.00

4650-0000
 Stormwater

2,306.40 2,286.00 -20.40 3,438.00
4660-0000

 Fire Service - Utility
1,890.16 1,893.00 2.84 2,841.00

4799-0000  TOTAL UTILITIES 68,637.19 69,809.00 1,171.81 112,081.00
5116-5000  REPAIR/MAINTENANCE
5120-0000

 Electric Repairs
1,035.57 1,680.00 644.43 2,520.00

5122-0000
 NONCAM Electrical Repairs

437.48 0.00 -437.48 0.00
5125-0000

 Electric Supplies
2,206.92 1,056.00 -1,150.92 1,584.00

5140-0000
 Elevator Maintenance

362.00 72,050.00 71,688.00 72,200.00
5141-0000

 Elevator Maintenance-NonCAM
533.00 0.00 -533.00 0.00

5145-4400
 Security Maint & Repair

0.00 80.00 80.00 120.00
5160-0000

 Exterior Building Maintenance
8,486.37 6,160.00 -2,326.37 7,740.00

5161-0000
 Exterior Building Supplies

104.50 150.00 45.50 225.00
5162-0000

 Non CAM Exterior Bldg Maint.
21.13 0.00 -21.13 0.00

5170-0000
 Fire Extinguisher Maintenance

1,707.00 1,820.00 113.00 1,820.00
5175-0000

 Fire Alarm/Sprinkler Repair
955.50 840.00 -115.50 1,260.00

5180-0000
 HVAC Repair

18,000.83 12,920.00 -5,080.83 19,380.00
5185-0000

 HVAC Supplies
4.31 0.00 -4.31 0.00

5192-0000
 Landscaping Expense

538.92 500.00 -38.92 500.00
5195-0000

 Tree Trimming
4,200.00 4,800.00 600.00 6,400.00

5197-0000
 Holding Pond Maintenance

0.00 500.00 500.00 1,000.00
5198-0000

 TIC-Trail Maintenance Expense
0.00 800.00 800.00 1,200.00

5210-0000
 Locks & Keys Repairs

592.00 590.00 -2.00 660.00
5220-0000

 Parking Lot Repairs
7,000.00 96,385.00 89,385.00 96,385.00

5230-0000
 Plumbing Repairs

1,312.80 2,580.00 1,267.20 3,720.00
5235-0000

 Plumbing Supplies
646.39 320.00 -326.39 480.00

5240-0000
 Backflow Maintenance

0.00 21.00 21.00 55.00
5245-0000

 Irrigation Repairs
1,046.75 1,530.00 483.25 1,920.00

 Page 2 of 5

Attachment F4 
Page 2 of 5

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 88 of 170



7/12/2021 10:34 AM
INNOVATION PARK (innvtion) 

Budget Comparison
Period = May 2021 

Book = Accrual 

YTD Actual  YTD Budget  Variance  Annual 
5250-0000

 Roof Repairs
3,595.00 2,510.00 -1,085.00 3,840.00

5260-0000
 Signage

58.67 1,000.00 941.33 1,000.00
5290-0000

 Other Maintenance
2,612.27 3,980.00 1,367.73 5,120.00

5292-0000
 Non CAM Other Maintenance

621.40 0.00 -621.40 0.00
5299-0000

 TOTAL REPAIR/MAINTENANCE

56,078.81 212,272.00 156,193.19 229,129.00

5300-0000
 CLEANING AND IMPROVEMENTS5310-0000
 Carpet Cleaning

115.00 850.00 735.00 2,900.00
5313-0000

 Carpet Repairs
19,369.46 0.00 -19,369.46 0.00

5340-0000
 Painting

25,555.05 39,090.00 13,534.95 39,090.00
5342-0000

 Non CAM Painting
3,307.20 0.00 -3,307.20 0.00

5380-0000
 Other Cleaning and Improvements

0.00 300.00 300.00 300.00
5399-0000

 TOTAL CLEANING AND IMPROVEME

N 48,346.71 40,240.00 -8,106.71 42,290.00

5400-0000
 SERVICES5410-0000
 Elevator Service

1,373.97 2,054.00 680.03 2,054.00
5412-0000

 Elevator Service-NonCAM
1,599.87 0.00 -1,599.87 0.00

5415-0000
 Elevator Phone Service

0.00 368.00 368.00 552.00
5420-0000

 Fire Protection System
3,341.00 3,832.00 491.00 3,832.00

5425-0000
 Fire Protection Phone

2,457.27 2,000.00 -457.27 3,000.00
5430-0000

 Exterminating
2,787.26 3,509.00 721.74 4,584.00

5445-0000
 Backflow Prevention Service

125.00 340.00 215.00 340.00
5445-5000

 Backflow Prevention Svc-NonCAM
0.00 40.00 40.00 40.00

5447-0000
 HVAC Monthly Service

6,898.74 10,347.00 3,448.26 13,796.00
5450-0000

 Janitorial Service
31,272.56 30,606.64 -665.92 44,204.00

5460-0000
 Landscaping Service

18,960.82 20,982.00 2,021.18 32,274.00
5461-0000

 Landscaping - Trail
1,295.00 1,486.00 191.00 2,250.00

5462-0000
 Non CAM Landscaping

2,629.70 2,934.00 304.30 4,510.00
5480-0000

 Security
1,035.21 910.00 -125.21 1,320.00

5487-0000
 Window Washing Service

279.95 1,430.00 1,150.05 9,644.00
5499-0000

 TOTAL SERVICES

74,056.35 80,838.64 6,782.29 122,400.00

 Page 3 of 5

Attachment F4 
Page 3 of 5

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 89 of 170



 

7/12/2021 10:34 AM
INNOVATION PARK (innvtion) 

Budget Comparison
Period = May 2021 

Book = Accrual 

YTD Actual  YTD Budget  Variance  Annual 
5500-0000

 PROPERTY ADMINISTRATION5510-0000
 Accounting

17,500.00 17,500.00 0.00 17,500.00
5520-0000

 Phone Service
1,373.18 1,304.00 -69.18 1,956.00

5522-0000
 Internet Charge

1,251.50 2,110.00 858.50 2,910.00
5525-0000

 Bank Charges
-16.00 0.00 16.00 0.00

5530-0000
 Copies

153.60 400.00 246.40 600.00
5560-0000

 Fees/Licenses/Permits
110.25 136.00 25.75 204.00

5565-0000
 Office Supplies

355.02 400.00 44.98 1,000.00
5566-0000

 Office Equipment Maintenance
0.00 400.00 400.00 600.00

5570-0000
 Postage/Delivery

0.00 40.00 40.00 60.00
5575-0000

 Professional Fees
12,909.50 14,000.00 1,090.50 21,000.00

5580-0100
 Printing

0.00 1,220.00 1,220.00 1,380.00
5581-0000

 TechForce Expenses
0.00 1,000.00 1,000.00 1,000.00

5581-0100
 Grant Expenses

0.00 35,000.00 35,000.00 35,000.00
5582-0000

 Other Program Expenses
144.81 9,475.00 9,330.19 13,725.00

5585-0000
 Subscriptions

2,345.00 2,420.00 75.00 2,920.00
5586-0000

 Marketing/PR
5,564.38 6,180.00 615.62 8,440.00

5587-0000
 General Authority Expense

387.46 960.00 572.54 1,440.00
5589-0000

 Research Grants
25,000.00 50,000.00 25,000.00 50,000.00

5594-0000
 Travel

0.00 3,600.00 3,600.00 4,500.00
5596-0000

 Other Administration Costs 

1,542.03 2,020.00 477.97 2,500.00
5599-0000  TOTAL PROPERTY ADMINISTRATION 68,620.73 148,165.00 79,544.27 166,735.00
6110-0000

 Management Fees TALCOR
58,834.96 58,832.00 -2.96 88,248.00

6150-0000
 Other Expenses

35.00 0.00 -35.00 0.00
6159-0000

 TOTAL OTHER EXPENSES

58,869.96 58,832.00 -37.96 88,248.00
7110-0000

 Property Insurance 

42,615.44 42,616.08 0.64 63,924.00
7111-0000

 Property Insurance-NonCAM
107.92 107.92 0.00 161.88

7199-0000

 TOTAL INSURANCE/TAXES

42,723.36 42,724.00 0.64 64,085.88

7800-0000

 TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES

710,063.00 956,505.64 246,442.64 1,283,033.88

7999-0000
 NET INCOME - OPERATING 

-77,774.84 -233,630.24 155,855.40 -299,171.32

 Page 4 of 5

Attachment F4 
Page 4 of 5

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 90 of 170



7/12/2021 10:34 AM
INNOVATION PARK (innvtion) 

Budget Comparison
Period = May 2021 

Book = Accrual 

YTD Actual  YTD Budget  Variance  Annual 

8200-0000
 OTHER EXPENSES8210-0000
 Depreciation Expense

185,866.16 179,016.00 -6,850.16 268,526.00
8220-0000

 Amortization Expense
4,951.68 4,952.00 0.32 7,428.00

8299-0000

 TOTAL OTHER EXPENSES

190,817.84 183,968.00 -6,849.84 275,954.00

9900-0000
 NET INCOME

-268,592.68 -417,598.24 149,005.56 -575,125.32

 Page 5 of 5

Attachment F4 
Page 5 of 5

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 91 of 170



 

                                                                               
                                                                                 
                   

                   

                                                        

                                                        
       

                        

                             
                    
                             
                   
                               
                             
                               
                       
                             
                       
                             
                       
                       
               
                    

                        
                        
                        
                             
                             

   
 

7/12/2021 Leon County R&D Authority 
10:40 AM Draft Budget: Fiscal Year 2020‐21 

Capital Projects‐Deferred Maint 
2020‐21 2019‐20 

Paid from 
Building Item Amount Building Item py budget Budget Actual Variance 
Collins Collins 
New Building $  900,000 
Tenants In Common TIC 
Fuqua Fuqua 
Morgan ‐ Morgan $  ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐

Total Major Projects 900,000 Total Major Projects ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐
Knight ‐ Knight 
Fuqua Fuqua 
Phipps ‐

Morgan/ 
Morgan/  HVAC‐If needed Johnson/  HVAC‐If needed 
Johnson/ Collins 30,000 Phipps 30,000 ‐ 30,000 

Total Regular CapEx 30,000 Total Regular CapEx 30,000 ‐ 30,000 
Total Capital Expenditures $  930,000 Total Capital Expenditures $  30,000 $  ‐ $  30,000 

Current  Added to 
Deferred maint plan: OpEx Current OpEx Year 2 
Fuqua Remodel elevator including ceiling/ lighting/ 

upgrades 70,000 70,000 
Paint ‐ Stairs, all rails, and half way up on upper 
level 3,700 3,700 

Johnson Elevator remodel/upgrades 70,000 70,000 
Paint: Interior lobby, both floors 4,300 4,300 
Paint: interior of NPS/SEAC 20,000 20,000 
Paint: 4 exterior doors and roll up door 654 654 
Paint: 2 stairwells 5,000 5,000 

Morgan Paint 6 exterior doors 436 436 
Replace two exterior doors 1,700 1,700 
Paint 2 stairwells 5,000 5,000 

Knight Clean roof, deck, walkways, and building 1,170 1,170 
Repair back deck (gutter?) 3,000 3,000 

Inn‐tic Irrigation repairs 1,000 1,000 
Landscaping two entrance monument signs 3,500 3,500 
Signage: Refurb (high estimate $3,000 x 42) 126,000 126,000 
Signage: New/replacements 10,000 10,000 

Parking Lots 
Morgan Overlay 21,750 21,750 
Johnson Overlay 21,750 21,750 
Collins Overlay 45,885 45,885 
Knight Sealing/Striping 3,500 3,500 
Phipps Sealing/Striping 3,500 3,500 

Total deferred maintenance $  421,845 $  28,460 $  187,385 $ 206,000 

$  215,845 

Attachment F5 
Page 1 of 1

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 92 of 170



Attachment G1 
Page 1 of 1

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 93 of 170



Attachment G2 
Page 1 of 2

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 94 of 170



Payment Details 

Leon County Research & Development Authority -

Attachment G2 
Page 2 of 2

REPORT TOTALS 

ACH Total Debit Amount Items Total Credit Amount Items Total Batches 

ACH (USD to USD) 36,339.69 USD 1 1 

Leon County Research & User: RONALD Report Generated: 07/12/2021 01:23:27 PM Page 2 of 2 

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 95 of 170



Attachment G3 
Page 1 of 6

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 96 of 170



Attachment G3 
Page 2 of 6

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 97 of 170



Attachment G3 
Page 3 of 6

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 98 of 170



Attachment G3 
Page 4 of 6

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 99 of 170



Attachment G3 
Page 5 of 6

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 100 of 170



Attachment G3 
Page 6 of 6

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 101 of 170



Attachment G4 
Page 1 of 3

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 102 of 170



Attachment G4 
Page 2 of 3

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 103 of 170



Attachment G4 
Page 3 of 3

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 104 of 170



20 -20  Florida Job Growth Grant Fund 
Public Infrastructure Grant Proposal

Governmental Entity Information

Name of Governmental Entity:

Government Federal Employer Identification Number

1

Title:

Mailing Address: 

Phone Number: 

Email:

Secondary Contact Name:

Title:

Phone Number:

Public Infrastructure Grant Eligibility

Pursuant to section 288.101, F.S., the Florida Job Growth Grant Fund was created to promote economic 
opportunity by improving public infrastructure and enhancing workforce training. Eligible entities that wish 
to access this grant fund must submit public infrastructure proposals that:

• Promote economic recovery in specific regions of the state, economic diversification or economic

enhancement in a targeted industry. (View Florida’s Targeted Industries here.)

• Are not for the exclusive benefit of any single company, corporation or business entity.

• Are for infrastructure that is owned by the public and is for public use or predominately benefits the

Public.

Attachment H 
Page 1 of 28

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 105 of 170



2

20 -20 FLORIDA JOB GROWTH GRANT FUND

1. Program Requirements:
(If additional space is needed, attach a word document with your entire answer.)

Each proposal must include the following information describing how the project satisfies

eligibility requirements listed on page 1.

A. Provide a detailed description of the public infrastructure improvements.

B. Provide location of public infrastructure, including physical address and county ofproject.

C. Is this infrastructure currently owned by the public?
Yes No

If no, is there a current option to purchase or right of way provided to the County?

D. Provide current property owner.

E. Is this infrastructure for public use or does it predominately benefit the public?

F. Will the public infrastructure improvements be for the exclusive benefit of any single company,
corporation  or business entity?

Yes No

Yes No

Attachment H 
Page 2 of 28

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 106 of 170



3

PUBLIC INFRASTRUCTURE GRANT PROPOSAL

G. Provide a detailed description of, and quantitative evidence demonstrating, how the proposed

public infrastructure project will promote:

• Economic recovery in specific regions of the state;

• Economic diversification; or

• Economic enhancement of a Targeted Industry (View Florida’s Targeted Industries here.)

o Describe how the project will promote specific job growth. Include the number of jobs that

will be retained or created, and in which industry(ies) the new net jobs will be created using

the North American Industry Classification System (NAICS) codes. Where applicable, you

may list specific businesses that will retain or create jobs or make capital investment.

o Provide a detailed explanation of how the public infrastructure improvements will connect

to a broader economic development vision for the community and benefit additional current

or future businesses.

2. Additional Information:
(If additional space is needed, attach a word document with your entire answer.)

A. Provide the proposed commencement date and number of days required to complete

construction of the public infrastructure project.

B. What permits are necessary for the public infrastructure project?

Attachment H 
Page 3 of 28

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 107 of 170



4

20 -20 FLORIDA JOB GROWTH GRANT FUND

C. Detail whether required permits have been secured, and if not, detail the timeline forsecuring

these permits. Additionally, if any required permits are local permits, will these permits be

prioritized?

D. What is the future land use and zoning designation on the proposed site of the infrastructure

improvements, and will the improvements conform to those uses?

E. Will an amendment to the local comprehensive plan or a development order be required on

the site of the proposed project or on adjacent property to accommodate the infrastructure and

potential current or future job creation opportunities? If yes, please detail the timeline.

F. Is the project ready to commence upon grant fund approval and contract execution? If no,
please explain.

G. Does this project have a local match amount?

If yes, please describe the entity providing the match and the amount.

H. Provide any additional information or attachments to be considered for this proposal. Maps and

other supporting documents are encouraged.

Yes No

Yes No

Yes No

Attachment H 
Page 4 of 28

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 108 of 170



5

PUBLIC INFRASTRUCTURE GRANT PROPOSAL

3. Program Budget
(If additional space is needed, attach a word document with your entire answer.)

Estimated Costs and Sources of Funding: Include all applicable public infrastructure costs and 

other funding sources available to support the proposal.

1.)  Total Amount Requested $ 

Florida Job Growth Grant Fund

A. Other Public Infrastructure Project Funding Sources:

City/County $ 

Private Sources $ 

Other (grants, etc.) $ Please Specify:

Total Other Funding $ 

B. Public Infrastructure Project Costs:

Construction $ 

Reconstruction $ 

Design & Engineering   $ 

Land Acquisition $ 

Land Improvement $ 

Other $ Please Specify:

Total Project Costs $ 

Note: The total amount requested must be calculated by subtracting the total ther ublic nfrastructure roject
unding ources in A. from the total ublic nfrastructure roject osts in B.

Attachment H 
Page 5 of 28

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 109 of 170



6

20 -20 FLORIDA JOB GROWTH GRANT FUND

C. Provide a detailed budget narrative, including the timing and steps necessary to obtain the

funding and any other pertinent budget-related information.

4. Approvals and Authority
(If additional space is needed, attach a word document with your entire answer.)

A. If the governmental entity is awarded grant funds based on this proposal, what approvals must

be obtained before it can execute a grant agreement with the Florida Department of Economic

Opportunity (e.g., approval of a board, commission or council)?

If board authorization is not required, who is authorized to sign?

B. If approval of a board, commission, council or other group is needed prior to execution of

an agreement between the governmental entity and the Florida Department of Economic

Opportunity:

i. Provide the schedule of upcoming meetings for the group for a period of at

least six months.

ii. State whether entity is willing and able to hold special meetings, and if so,

upon how many days’ notice.

C. Attach evidence that the undersigned has all necessary authority to execute this proposal on

behalf of the governmental entity. This evidence may take a variety of forms, including but not

limited to: a delegation of authority, citation to relevant laws or codes, policy documents, etc.

Attachment H 
Page 6 of 28

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 110 of 170



7

PUBLIC INFRASTRUCTURE GRANT PROPOSAL

I, the undersigned, do hereby certify that I have express authority to sign this proposal on behalf of the 

above-described entity and to the best of my knowledge, that all data and information submitted in 

proposal is truthful and accurate and no material fact has been omitted.

Name of Governmental Entity: 

Name and Title of AuthorizedRepresentative:

Representative Signature:   

Signature Date: 07/21/2021

Attachment H 
Page 7 of 28

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 111 of 170



Leon County R&D Authority, Attachment A 
 

Program Requirements 
 
 Response 1A.  Detailed description of public infrastructure improvements.   
 
The purpose of this application is to obtain approximately $6.2 million in state funding to 
augment $17 million in already committed federal and local funding to construct the North 
Florida Innovation Labs (NFIL), a hard-science technology business incubator/accelerator, 
in Innovation Park of Tallahassee.  The objective of NFIL is to grow the number of 
technology-related companies and resulting high-wage jobs which will help diversify the 
region’s economy. This project is progressing quickly through the design phase, but needs 
additional funding as described in the attached budget narrative. The $10.2 million federal 
funding award agreement requires the facility to begin construction by March of 2022 and 
to be completed within the following 18 months, or risk loss of funding.  
 
NFIL addresses the gap in the region’s need for specialized start-up facilities necessary to 
bring new technologies to market within the Tallahassee region.  The 40,000 square foot 
facility will include 35 chemistry, biology, dry and fabrication labs, specialized equipment, 
24 offices, conference rooms, collaboration spaces, a multipurpose entrepreneur training 
room, and other support spaces.  More than just space and equipment, NFIL will provide 
prototype development support, business incubation/acceleration programs and support 
services. Programs and services will include training, mentoring, support for technology 
transfer from the universities, identification of funding sources and other support necessary 
to successfully launch and grow companies which will successfully commercialize new 
technologies.  
 
The region includes two top State research universities in Florida State University and 
Florida A&M University.  These universities have excelled at creating innovative 
technologies but have had limited success fostering commercialization.  Previously, the 
region has not had the ecosystem to support hard-science technology entrepreneurs.  As a 
result, a number of these entrepreneurs have moved to other areas to advance their 
companies.  One reason has been the lack of facilities like NFIL will provide.  
 
This entrepreneurial ecosystem has been growing and evolving in the last 7 years. In 2015, 
LCRDA commissioned a feasibility study which demonstrated the need for a mixed used 
business incubator/accelerator.  Other advancements have been the creation of the FSU Jim 
Moran College of Entrepreneurship, the Domi Station incubator and other niche incubators, 
the Big Bend Alliance of Entrepreneurial Resource Organizations, and the TCC Innovation 
Center, just to name a few. The ecosystem has begun to focus on collaboration efforts to 
coordinate services and reduce overlapping services which will better support companies as 

Attachment H 
Page 8 of 28

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 112 of 170



Leon County R&D Authority, Attachment A 
 

they move through the company development process.  The growth of the ecosystem will 
help to make NFIL a success.  
 
Attachment’s D-1 and D-2 provide a map of Innovation Park and a current draft of a site plan, 
floor plans, and elevations which illustrate the design of the facility which will be unmatched 
in the region.    
 
Response 1D.  Property Owner 
Leon County Research and Development Authority (LCRDA), pursuant to a lease agreement 
with the State of Florida Board of Trustees of the Internal Improvement Trust Fund dated 
1/28/1980 and expires 1/28/2074. LCRDA manages Innovation Park, a 208-acre research 
and development park having 17 buildings, and more than 30 organizations on site. LCRDA 
is a Florida Statute Section 159, Part V, special district local government entity.  
 
Innovation Park includes the National High Magnetic Field Laboratory with the largest and 
most powerful magnets in the world; the FSU High-Performance Materials Institute; the FSU 
Florida Center for Advanced Aero-Propulsion; the FAMU Center for Plasma Science and 
Technology; and other university research facilities and centers of excellence. Private 
company manufacturer Danfoss Turbocor is in the park, in addition to several early-stage 
businesses. The Park also houses State of Florida agencies Department of Agriculture and 
Consumer Service’s Fresh from Florida test kitchen, and the Department of Transportation 
Structures Research Center.  
 
Innovation Park is adjacent to the FAMU-FSU College of Engineering. It is conveniently 
located within 5 miles of Tallahassee International Airport, Florida State University, Florida 
A&M University, and Tallahassee Community College. Local government is making an 
investment in the “Airport Gateway Project” which will further enhance connectivity 
between all these assets as the newly created and renovated roads will run by Innovation 
Park.  
 
Innovation Park serves the eight-county area surrounding Leon County, including Calhoun, 
Franklin, Gadsden, Gulf, Jackson, Jefferson, Liberty, and Wakulla Counties.  These counties 
correspond to those served by the statutorily designated Apalachee Regional Planning 
Council.      
 
Innovation Park has a total annual economic impact of over $500 million and over 2,000 
direct jobs not including the approximately 2,000 faculty staff and students at the College of 
Engineering.  These impacts will continue to grow. FSU is breaking ground in August 2021 
on a new facility in Innovation Park, the Interdisciplinary Research and Commercialization 
Building.  Danfoss Turbocor is breaking ground in October 2021 on the development of a 

Attachment H 
Page 9 of 28

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 113 of 170



Leon County R&D Authority, Attachment A 
 

new, approximately 150,000 square foot manufacturing and R&D facility in Innovation Park. 
These developments will enhance the future success of NFIL through the further creation of 
advanced technologies and the collaboration with private companies like Danfoss. Danfoss 
has committed to contribute furniture and equipment to NFIL. 
 
Response 1G.  Detailed description of, and quantitative evidence demonstrating, how 
the project promotes economic recovery in specific regions of the state, economic 
diversification, or economic enhancement of a Targeted Industry.         
 
The Region: 
The North Florida Innovation Labs (NFIL) incubator building will be located at Innovation 
Park of Tallahassee in Florida’s northern most region. The area consists of the contiguous 
nine counties of Calhoun, Franklin, Gadsden, Gulf, Jackson, Jefferson, Leon, Liberty, and 
Wakulla. In addition to the state capital, Tallahassee is home to Florida State University 
(FSU), Florida A&M University (FAMU), and Tallahassee Community College (TCC). 

Although Tallahassee is generally prosperous, it has significant disadvantaged urban areas.  
Innovation Park is within an SBA Qualified HUBZone, and there are high levels of economic 
distress in surrounding rural counties of the project region as well. Two counties (Jefferson, 
Liberty) rate “low” on the Capacity for Innovation scale, while three counties (Calhoun, 
Gadsden, Gulf) rate “very low.” 

Parts of six counties in the region have Opportunity Zone status, denoting that they are low-
income communities eligible for unique capital investments.  There are eight tracts identified 
in Leon County alone, and as many as twenty-two Zones may benefit from this project. 

The region also consists of seven counties in Florida’s Northwest Rural Areas of Opportunity 
(RAO).  These are defined as rural communities, or a region composed of rural communities, 
that have been adversely affected by extraordinary economic events or natural disasters.  
RAO counties include Calhoun, Franklin, Gadsden, Gulf, Jackson, Liberty, and Wakulla. 

Promoting Economic Recovery and Diversification: 
The U.S. Department of Commerce Economic Development Agency awarded $10.2 million in 
funding to LCRDA for the NFIL project to support economic recovery related to Hurricane 
Michael and to promote resilience related to potential future events. As most Floridians 
know, Hurricane Michael was the strongest storm to hit Florida since Hurricane Andrew in 
1992.  The justification for the EDA grant award is consistent with the requirements of this 
grant.  
 
It is apparent that regional economic prosperity is linked to an area’s ability to prevent, 
withstand, and quickly recover from major disruptions to its economic base. In the context 
of economic development, economic resilience becomes inclusive of three primary 

Attachment H 
Page 10 of 28

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 114 of 170



Leon County R&D Authority, Attachment A 
 

attributes: the ability to recover quickly from an event, the ability to withstand an 
occurrence, and the ability for avoidance altogether.  Establishing a business incubator gives 
the region the ability to anticipate risk by offering office and lab space to disrupted 
businesses after a disaster, by outfitting the facility with redundant power and Internet 
services.  A backup generator, an uninterruptable power supply (UPS), and other safeguards 
are planned for the new facility. 
 
Most of the region did not return to levels of jobs, population, county gross domestic product, 
or combined personal income projected to otherwise occur without hurricanes. Nearly 40 
percent of small businesses that close due to disaster events never re-open.  Many counties 
in the region are already suffering from the effects of long-term economic stagnation, past 
catastrophic storms, and threats to its infrastructure, economy, and human capital from 
tropical storms and hurricanes just adds to anguish. 
 
The addition of a high-tech business incubator will help to promote a positive vision for the 
region.  Innovation Park is undertaking efforts to broaden the industrial base with 
diversification initiatives, such as targeting the development of emerging clusters. These 
clusters will build on the region’s unique assets and competitive strengths in science and 
engineering.  This also provides stability during downturns that disproportionately impact 
any single cluster.  
 
The ten largest employers within Tallahassee with 1,000 or more employees are limited to 
educational institutions/systems, governments (state and local), and healthcare facilities.  
Attachment B, which lists the largest employers within Leon County for 2020, indicates few 
employers are technology-based.  Those listed as technology companies focus primarily on 
information technology or telecommunications.  NFIL, with space for science and 
engineering entrepreneurs to develop products and launch businesses, will diversify the 
local economy.  As these burgeoning businesses grow, neighboring counties with economic 
needs will participate in this growth, through the provision of manufacturing facilities, and 
employees. 

Whether or not communities are in locations likely to experience significant natural 
disasters or economic shifts, they must be able to recognize vulnerabilities.  Economic 
challenges or deficiencies are seen in the region’s economic weak spots such as a lack of 
qualified engineers to fill available positions, an excessive dependency on government 
employment, and lack of access to the financial resources required to advance businesses 
(i.e., angel and venture Capital). 

Measuring the economic resilience of a region is by the degree of regional income equality 
and the degree of regional economic diversification.  The incubator service region suffers 

Attachment H 
Page 11 of 28

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 115 of 170



Leon County R&D Authority, Attachment A 
 

from a large income gap across the population.  Efforts will be made to include workforce 
training initiatives to address closing the gap.  With the move to promote more of an 
innovation economy away from the reliance of government and academia, the Park is 
diversifying the commercial employment opportunities for the region. 

NFIL and its partner organizations support another dimension of diversification by 
expanding opportunities for entrepreneurship within the region by growing the number of 
women- and minority-owned businesses while creating more technology-focused 
businesses.  This group has recently applied for federal funding to further these 
opportunities.  
 
The incubator facility and programs will leverage the intellectual capital from government 
and university communities, and augment them with new and expanded entrepreneurial 
opportunities, facilities, and networks.  The community’s focus has shifted to technology 
startups and research commercialization because of the 2008 recession, which revealed the 
limitations of an economy predominantly based on government agencies. 

The shift in the U.S. economy from heavy industry to high-technology business is reflected in 
the economy of the Tallahassee region as well.  Traditional manufacturing jobs are 
decreasing while Life and Health Sciences, Information Technology, Agribusiness, Advanced 
Engineering, and other technology disciplines continue to prosper.   The Tallahassee region 
is also experiencing a “brain drain” as many of its college graduates in Science/Engineering 
leave after graduation.   

This project will create new, high quality jobs and support spinouts which will contribute to 
the region’s economy.  It will provide opportunities for students who may intern, work, or 
provide services to member companies, and gives them the opportunity to find gainful 
employment after graduation.  The incubator allows faculty a place to consult with 
businesses and will give them the opportunity to germinate their own ideas into successful 
companies.  

In addition to institutes of higher education, the presence of the National High Magnetic Field 
Laboratory (MagLab), the only facility of its kind, presents a unique opportunity for the area 
in research, product development, and commercialization.  The MagLab is a partnership 
among FSU, the University of Florida, and Los Alamos National Laboratory.  Many other 
research-intensive institutes and centers are also located at Innovation Park, including 
private companies.   

According to the National Academy of Inventors and the Intellectual Property Owners 
Association, FSU was ranked 84th worldwide among universities for producing U.S. utility 
patents in 2020. The university produced 35 such patents. This productivity is critical to 
creating more technology-based companies but has not done so to-date. When considering 

Attachment H 
Page 12 of 28

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 116 of 170



Leon County R&D Authority, Attachment A 
 

major employers in the area, there are no “research/technical” employers in the list of the 
top 20 companies and most are governmental, academic, or retail oriented. NFIL’s facility 
and programs will address this issue. 

No biology and chemistry wet laboratory spaces are currently available in the greater Leon 
County area, and this space will add a unique dimension to the facility.  The presence of these 
wet laboratories will allow Innovation Park to take advantage of key discoveries in the 
School of Medicine and the Pharmacy School to form biotechnology/biomedicine companies 
and provide an exceptional environment for their growth. Wet labs facilitate the 
commercialization of a wide range of chemical, biotechnology, and biomedical research, and 
can attract these types of companies to the area. 

There have been several companies created in the last few years that could have used wet 
lab facilities.  One of those companies is currently located in private space due to the lack of 
a public high-tech incubator facility.  This company produces test kits for allergens from tree 
nuts.  Another company is now located at the Sid Martin Bio Center at the University of 
Florida, which is a two-and-a-half-hour commute for the founder who lives in Tallahassee. 
Another aerospace related company has moved away from the region to start and grow its 
company but would like to return when we have the needed facilities. While other parts of 
Florida may benefit from the relocations, they dilute the ability of the region to fully take 
advantage of all the innovation it creates.  

This project is a joint community initiative by the LCRDA, FSU, FAMU, TCC, the City of 
Tallahassee, and Leon County. In addition, the project is supported by a cross-section of 
community leaders, units of government, and the entrepreneurial ecosystem. The incubator 
would offer a unique opportunity for entrepreneurs to interact with world-class scientists 
located at Innovation Park. 

Targeted Industries 
 
Targeted industries such as aviation and aerospace, cleantech, defense, life sciences and 
manufacturing are all industries which could gain additional early-stage companies 
commercializing innovations developed from active research in the area. The MagLab 
focuses on materials, energy, and life sciences research. FSU’s Aeropropulsion, Mechatronics 
and Energy facility houses advanced wind tunnels, and conducts research related to robotics 
applications, and battery technology.  FSU’s Materials Research Building focuses on high 
performance materials including carbon nanotube applications which could result in new 
products for manufacture. The Florida Center for Applied Power Systems has conducted 
research for the U.S. Navy and spun out a company focused clean energy production.  
Because the current entrepreneurial ecosystem does not have any existing available facilities 
of the type that will be provided by NFIL, the project has the potential to create jobs in all 
targeted industries.  

Attachment H 
Page 13 of 28

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 117 of 170



Leon County R&D Authority, Attachment A 
 

 
Incubators continue to be a job-creating tool based on the research conducted by the 
International Business Innovation Association (iNBIA). Based on IMPLAN modeling and 
comparison to similar projects, it is anticipated that NFIL will directly or indirectly produce 
and sustain more than 639 full-time, permanent, high quality jobs within the region. 
Incubators build foundations of success for local economic development efforts and have 
provided a platform for aspiring entrepreneurs to conceive, develop, nurture, and grow their 
business ideas.   NFIL intends to help the region realize these economic benefits.  
 
NFIL is nearly shovel-ready and largely funded, but the funds sought from DEO through the 
Florida Job Growth grant fund are critical to making it a reality.  

Attachment H 
Page 14 of 28

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 118 of 170



SIZE EMPLOYER INDUSTRY
Florida State University Education

State of Florida Government

Tallahassee Memorial Healthcare, Inc. Healthcare

City of Tallahassee Government

Florida A&M University Education

Leon County Schools Education

Capital Regional Medical Center Healthcare

Leon County Government

Tallahassee Community College Education

Trulieve Agriculture

Apalachee Center, Inc. Healthcare

Capital City Bank Group Finance & Insurance

Capital Health Plan Healthcare

Citizens Property Insurance Corporation Business Services

Coastal Forest Resources Company Manufacturing

Georgia Pacific Manufacturing

Goodwill Industries - Big Bend Social Services

Mainline Information Systems Technology

Sodexo Food Services

St. Marks Powder Manufacturing

The Florida Bar Associations & Organizations

VA Outpatient Clinic Healthcare

Cone Distributing Transportation
Danfoss Turbocor Manufacturing
Envision Credit Union Finance & Insurance
General Dynamics Land Systems Manufacturing
McKenzie Tank Lines Transportation
Preferred Managing Agency Finance & Insurance
Radiology Associates Healthcare
Residential Elevators Manufacturing
Seven Hills Health & Rehabilitation Center Healthcare
Tallahassee Orthopedic Clinic Healthcare
Tallahassee Primary Care Associates Healthcare
Tri-Eagle Sales Transportation
Westminster Oaks Healthcare

200-299

Major Employers

5,000+ 

2,000 - 4,999

1,000 to 1,999 

300 to 999 

Attachment H 
Page 15 of 28

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 119 of 170



ALSCO Business Services
Automated Health Systems Technology
Bank of America Finance & Insurance
Big Bend Hospice Healthcare
Brandt Information Systems Technology
Bright Red (The Zimmerman Agency) Business Services
Capital Area Community Action Agency Associations & Organizations
Centre Point Health and Rehab Healthcare
CenturyLink Telecommunications
Coca Cola UNITED Transportation
Comcast Cable Telecommunications
Consulate Health Care Healthcare
CSG Systems Technology
Culpepper Construction Construction
DISC Village Healthcare
FBMC Benefits Management Business Services
FedEx Ground Transportation
First Commerce Credit Union Finance & Insurance
Gadsden Tomato Company Agriculture
GT Technologies Manufacturing
HealthSouth Rehabilitation Hospital (Encompass) Healthcare
Home Instead Senior Care Healthcare
Iconic Group Business Services
Jimmie Crowder Excavating Construction
Kaye Scholer LLP Business Services
Maclay School Education
Marquis Software Technology
MCCi Business Services
Miracle Hill Nursing and Rehabilitation Center Healthcare
Municipal Code Corporation Business Services
North Florida Medical Centers Healthcare
North Florida Women's Care Healthcare
Tresta Technology
Peavy & Son Construction Construction
Pensacola Care, Inc (Tallahassee Developmental Center) Healthcare
Select Specialty Hospital Healthcare
Syn-Tech Systems Manufacturing
Talquin Electric Utilities
Tapestry Senior Living Healthcare
TeligentEMS Manufacturing
T-Formation Manufacturing
Thomas Howell Ferguson, P.A. CPAs Business Services

100-199

Data for this list was collected in conjunction with information from Office of Economic Vitality, feedback received from employer 

surveys, direct employer communication and Chamber database.

If your company information needs updating, please contact Dana Noles at dnoles@talchamber.com.

Attachment H 
Page 16 of 28

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 120 of 170



Attachment H 
Page 17 of 28

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 121 of 170



Attachment H 
Page 18 of 28

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 122 of 170



Attachment H 
Page 19 of 28

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 123 of 170



1736 W. PAUL DIRAC DRIVE • TALLAHASSEE, FL • 32310 • 850-575-0343 • Innovation-Park.com 

August 15, 2019 

Mr. Greg Vaday 
401 West Peachtree Street, NW 
Suite 1820 
Atlanta, GA 30308-3510 

Dear Greg: 

I am pleased to report that the Executive Committee of the Leon County Research and Development 
Authority has approved pledging $1.8 million in matching funds for its grant application in response to 
EDA-2019-DISASTER-PKG00253548. These funds are currently and immediately available upon award 
of the grant.  

We are very excited that we have the full support of our partners. The Florida State University Research 
Foundation has pledged $2.5 million. The Tallahassee-Leon County Office of Economic Vitality, as 
unanimously approved by the 12-member joint city/county Intergovernmental Agency, is also pledging 
$2.5 million.  Their individual pledge letters are included in the application.   

While Florida A&M University was unable to currently make a pledge toward the construction phase of 
the incubator, they have discussed providing other funding support perhaps toward equipment and 
operations.  Further, we have a pledge from Danfoss Turbocor, an Innovation Park company, to donate 
equipment, furniture and computers to the facility. 

The proposed incubator is an incredibly important project for our region. I hope the financial support 
from our partners, and the letters included in the application, illustrate the broad community support that 
exists for this project.   

We look forward to the EDA’s response to our application. 

Sincerely, 

Ronald J. Miller, Jr. 
Executive Director. 

Attachment H 
Page 20 of 28

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 124 of 170



Innovation	Park	Map	

NFIL sites to 
be developed 

* 

All land in Innovation Park is leased from 
the State of Florida Board of Trustees of 
the Internal Improvement Trust Fund 
except for the Danfoss Expansion* parcel. 
The lease expires 1/28/2074.  

Land Lessee Color Key 

Attachment H 
Page 21 of 28

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 125 of 170



Attachment H 
Page 22 of 28

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 126 of 170



Attachment H 
Page 23 of 28

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 127 of 170



Attachment H 
Page 24 of 28

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 128 of 170



Attachment H 
Page 25 of 28

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 129 of 170



Attachment H 
Page 26 of 28

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 130 of 170



Leon County R&D Authority, Attachment E 

 

Budget	Narrative	
	

 
The Leon County Research and Development Authority (LCRDA) seeks a State contribution 
from DEO to the North Florida Innovation Labs construction project of $6,227,773.  The 
original project cost of approximately $17 million was estimated in 2019, and the impact of 
COVID-19 on the cost of construction materials and labor, along with other costs, has 
increased the estimated cost to $23,251,143.  The award of the requested funds from the 
Florida Job Growth Grant Fund is critical to keeping this important project moving forward 
and realizing its potential to create high-tech companies and high-wage jobs in the State. 
 
LCRDA has $17,023,370 of committed funds including $10,214,022 from the U.S. 
Department of Commerce, Economic Development Agency; $2,500,000 from the Florida 
State University Research Foundation; $2,500,000 from the Tallahassee-Leon County Office 
of Economic Vitality; and $1,809,348 from the applicant entity, LCRDA.   
 
There are no land acquisition costs as the property is leased by LCRDA from the Board of 
Trustees of the Internal Improvement Trust Fund, and the use is consistent with the 
permitted uses.  The site survey, geotechnical studies, and State Historic Preservation Officer 
review have been completed and no additional related unbudgeted costs are expected to be 
incurred. 
 
Land improvements, including site work and landscaping is estimated at $668,610.  Design 
and engineering fees, which also includes construction inspection fees, is $1,560,475.  
Construction costs include the structure itself, the laboratory space build out, and all 
mechanical, electrical, plumbing, and fire protection systems.  These costs equate to 
$18,898,065.  The other project costs included in the budget are for permit fees and a project 
contingency, of $2,123,993.   The total project cost is estimated at $23,251,143.   

Attachment H 
Page 27 of 28

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 131 of 170



July 20, 2021 

Florida Department of Economic Opportunity 
107 East Madison Street 
Caldwell Building 
Tallahassee, FL 32399-4120 

RE: 2021-2022 Florida Job Growth Grant Fund Proposal 

To Whom it May Concern: 

Please let this letter serve as evidence that, at its meeting on July 20, 2021, the Executive 
Committee of the Board of Governors of the Leon County Research and Development Authority 
(LCRDA) delegated authority to Ronald J. Miller, Jr., Executive Director, to execute a Public 
Infrastructure Grant Proposal to the 2021-2022 Florida Job Growth Grant Fund on behalf of 
LCRDA. The Executive Director is also authorized to execute any related award agreement on 
behalf of LCRDA. 

Sincerely, 
Leon County Research and Development Authority 

Kimberly Moore, Chair 

2051 E. Paul Dirac Drive • Suite 100 • Tallahassee, FL • 32310 • 850-575-0343 • Innovation-Park.com 

Attachment H 
Page 28 of 28

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 132 of 170



1

AMENDED AND RESTATED 
BYLAWS OF  

LEON COUNTY RESEARCH AND  
DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 

Adopted August 3, 2021 
Amending and Restating the Bylaws adopted on March 18, 1981, as amended on the following 

dates: 
Amended 

March 18, 1981 
May 14, 1981 

August 18, 1993 
October 15, 2002 
February 1, 2011 

May 10, 2011 
January 10, 2013 
December 4, 2014 

August 4, 2016 
August 3, 2017 
August 3, 2021 

Attachment J1 
Page 1 of 19

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 133 of 170



 

2 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

1.  ARTICLE I - GOVERNANCE...................................................................................... 44 
1.1  Definitions. ........................................................................................................................................ 44 

1.2  Identity and Principal Office. .......................................................................................................... 55 

1.3  Background. ...................................................................................................................................... 55 

1.4  Purpose. ............................................................................................................................................. 66 

1.5  Membership. ..................................................................................................................................... 66 

1.6  Meetings............................................................................................................................................. 77 

1.7  Quorum and Voting. ......................................................................................................................... 88 

1.8  Removal and Vacancies. ................................................................................................................... 99 

1.9  Attendance. ........................................................................................................................................ 99 

1.10  Conflicts of Interests. .................................................................................................................... 1010 

2.  ARTICLE II - OFFICERS ......................................................................................... 1010 
2.1  Officers. ......................................................................................................................................... 1010 

2.2  The Chair. ..................................................................................................................................... 1010 

2.3  Vice-Chair. .................................................................................................................................... 1111 

2.4  Treasurer. ...................................................................................................................................... 1111 

2.5  Election, Eligibility, Terms and Removal of Officers. ............................................................... 1111 

3.  ARTICLE III - COMMITTEES ............................................................................... 1212 
3.1  Conduct of Committee Meeting................................................................................................... 1212 

3.2  Standing Committees. .................................................................................................................. 1212 

3.3  Audit Committee........................................................................................................................... 1212 

3.4  Budget Committee. ....................................................................................................................... 1313 

3.5  Bylaws Committee. ....................................................................................................................... 1313 

3.6  Executive Committee. ................................................................................................................... 1313 

3.7  Investment Advisory Committee. ................................................................................................ 1414 

4.  ARTICLE IV - DELEGATION OF DUTIES .......................................................... 1515 
4.1  Delegation of Duties. ..................................................................................................................... 1515 

5.  ARTICLE V - OATH OF OFFICE AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE .............. 1515 
5.1  Oath of Office. ............................................................................................................................... 1515 

5.2  Statement of Financial Interest. .................................................................................................. 1515 

Attachment J1 
Page 2 of 19

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 134 of 170



 

3 

6.  ARTICLE VI - RESOLUTIONS ............................................................................... 1616 
6.1  Resolutions. ................................................................................................................................... 1616 

7.  ARTICLE VII - FINANCES AND FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT ..................... 1616 
7.1  Finances. ........................................................................................................................................ 1616 

7.2  Audit. ............................................................................................................................................. 1616 

7.3  Execution of Contracts. ................................................................................................................ 1616 

7.4  Checks. ........................................................................................................................................... 1616 

8.  ARTICLE VIII - EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR .......................................................... 1717 
8.1  Duties and Responsibilities. ......................................................................................................... 1717 

8.2  Custodian of Records. .................................................................................................................. 1717 

8.3  Responsibilities to the Board. ...................................................................................................... 1717 

9.  ARTICLE IX - PARLIAMENTARY AUTHORITY .............................................. 1818 
9.1  Parliamentary Authority. ............................................................................................................. 1818 

10.  ARTICLE X- INDEMNIFICATION OF MEMBERS, OFFICERS, EMPLOYEES 
AND OTHERS ............................................................................................................ 1818 
10.1  Indemnification of Members, Officers, Employees and Others. .............................................. 1818 

11.  ARTICLE XI - IMPLEMENTATION AND AMENDMENTS ............................. 1919 
11.1  Implementation and Amendments .............................................................................................. 1919 

12.  ARTICLE XII - FISCAL YEAR ............................................................................... 1919 
12.1  Fiscal Year. .................................................................................................................................... 1919 

 
  

Attachment J1 
Page 3 of 19

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 135 of 170



 

4 

1. ARTICLE I - GOVERNANCE 

1.1 Definitions. 

a.) “Authority” shall mean The Leon County Research and Development Authority. 

b.) “Board” shall mean the Board of the Authority.   

c.) “Commission” shall mean the Leon County Commission. 

d.) “Ex-Officio Member” means a person who is a member of the Board by virtue of the 

office or position they hold.  An Ex-Officio Member shall have exactly the same 

rights as all other members including the right to vote on all matters, unless another 

applicable statute provides otherwise. 

e.) Whenever the phrase “Florida’s Government in the Sunshine Law” is used it shall 

refer to Section 286.011, Florida Statutes. 

f.) “Innovation Park” shall mean the Research and Development Park operated by the 

Authority on property owned by the Florida Board of Trustees of the Internal 

Improvement Trust Fund in Leon County, Florida and leased to the Leon County 

Research and Development Authority pursuant to Lease Agreement dated January 28, 

1980. 

g.) The use of the masculine gender shall also include the feminine. 

h.) “Affiliated Institution of Higher Education” shall mean Florida State University, 

Florida Agricultural and Mechanical University, and Tallahassee Community 

College. 

i.) “Present” shall mean physically or electronically in attendance and legally entitled 

to vote.   

j.) “Electronic Means” for participating in meetings may include the use of such 

devices as a speaker telephone or any other communications media that allows the 

Attachment J1 
Page 4 of 19

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 136 of 170



 

5 

absent member to participate in discussions, and to be heard by other board 

members and the public during the meeting. 

1.2 Identity and Principal Office. 

a.) Identity. These are the Bylaws of the Leon County Research and Development 

Authority, a public body corporate. 

b.) Principal Office. The principal office of the Authority shall be at 1736 West Paul 

Dirac Drive, Tallahassee, FL  32310, or at such other place as may be subsequently 

designated by the Board. 

1.3 Background. 

The Leon County Research and Development Authority was created as a public body 

corporate pursuant to the enactment of 78-402, Laws of Florida, which created the 

Florida Research and Development Commission and provided for the creation of five-

member Research and Development Authorities.  The Charter of the Authority was filed 

with the Secretary of State on October 24, 1978.  On July 1, 1979, pursuant to the 

enactment of 79-101 Laws of Florida, Part V of Chapter 159, Florida Statutes, was 

created.  This amendment expanded the powers of authorities to provide for financing of 

projects.  Section 159.75, Florida Statutes, required any authority established prior to 

this enactment, to reconstitute itself under the amended statute in order to be able to 

exercise any power to issue bonds or other debt obligations pursuant to Sections 

159.74(6) and (7), Florida Statutes. On December 16, 1980 Ordinance 80-68 was 

adopted by the Commission.  Ordinance 80-68 confirmed the creation and existence of 

the Authority pursuant to Section 159.704(3), Florida Statutes.   

Attachment J1 
Page 5 of 19

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 137 of 170



 

6 

1.4 Purpose.  

The Authority was created to promote scientific research and development, in affiliation 

with, and related to the research and development activities of state-based, accredited 

institutions of higher education and to foster economic development and the broadening 

of the economic base of Leon County in conjunction with institutions of higher 

education.   

1.5 Membership. 

a.)  Members Appointed by the Commission.  The Board shall consist of at least five 

(5) members who are residents and electors of, or have their principal place of 

employment in, Leon County, appointed by the Commission pursuant to 

Section 159.703(3), Florida Statutes.  Pursuant to Leon County Board of County 

Commissioners Resolution 16-19, the number of members appointed by the 

Commission is seven (7), six (6) of which shall be at-large members. The terms of 

the members appointed by the Commission shall be for four (4) years. One Board 

member shall be a member of the Commission who shall serve a term of four (4) 

years or until such time such appointee ceases to be a member of the Commission. 

b.) Ex-Officio Members. The Board shall also include the Mayor of the City of 

Tallahassee or the Mayor’s designee, the President of Florida State University, or the 

President’s designee, the President of Florida Agricultural and Mechanical 

University, or the President’s designee, and the President of Tallahassee Community 

College, or the President’s designee.  Each of the members indicated in this paragraph 

shall serve in an Ex-Officio capacity as defined in Section 1.1(d) herein. 

c.) Term of Membership. An Ex-Officio member shall serve for so long as the member 

serves in his respective position.  If the member serves as a designee of a member in 

Attachment J1 
Page 6 of 19

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 138 of 170



 

7 

Section 1.5(b), the member shall serve as long as he remains a designee, subject to 

the provisions of Section 1.8(a) herein. 

d.) Change in Designee.  If the Commission or an Ex-Officio member changes his 

designee to the Board, notification of such change must be provided in writing to the 

Chairman and to the Executive Director within at least ten days of the change.  The 

President of each Affiliated Institution of Higher Education may designate one 

alternate designee. Any such designation shall be provided in writing to the Chairman 

and to the Executive Director at least 24 hours prior to an alternate participating in a 

meeting. 

1.6  Meetings 

a.) Annual Meeting.  The first meeting of the Board in October shall be the Annual 

Meeting.  At the Annual Meeting the Board shall, if not previously adopted, adopt the 

budget for the current fiscal year and the Chair shall make initial appointments of 

members to committees. 

b.) Regular Meetings. Regular meetings of the Board shall be held not less than 

quarterly. The Board may dispense with any regular meeting which the Chair in 

consultation with the Executive Director deems to be unnecessary.   

c.) Special Meetings.  Special meetings require seventy-two (72) hours advance notice 

to the public.  Special meetings of the Board may be convened in the following 

manner. Special meetings of the Board may be called at any time by the Chair.  A 

special meeting shall also be called if the Executive Director receives a written request 

to convene a special meeting to discuss the same subject from three (3) members of 

the Board.  In such event the Chair shall convene a special meeting consistent with 

the notice provisions of this paragraph. 

Attachment J1 
Page 7 of 19

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 139 of 170



 

8 

d.) Notice. All meetings of the Authority shall be publicly noticed in compliance with 

Florida’s Government in the Sunshine Law to ensure full participation of the public.  

Notice of meetings shall be published in the Florida Administrative Weekly.  

1.7 Quorum and Voting. 

a.) Quorum. A majority of the members of the Board shall constitute a quorum. 

b.) Voting. Each member of the Board shall have equal voting rights and privileges. The 

affirmative vote of a majority of the members Present shall be necessary for any action 

taken by the Board.  Pursuant to Section 159.703(6), Florida Statutes, the President 

of each Affiliated Institution of Higher Education or that President’s designee shall 

be Present and vote on any action taken by the Board involving the issuance of bonds 

or the transfer, development, lease or encumbrance of any lands owned by the 

Trustees of the Internal Improvement Trust Fund and leased to the Authority.  In 

addition, the President of each Affiliated Institution of Higher Education or such 

President’s designee shall be Present and vote in the affirmative on any action taken 

by the Board involving the lease of any Innovation Park lands to a State agency. 

c.) Voting by Proxy. Voting by proxy or through any other means shall not be permitted 

except to the extent provided in Section 1.7(d) herein.  

d.) Meetings Conducted Via Electronic Means. Participation via Electronic Means by 

an absent member in discussion and voting in a meeting of the Board, or a Committee 

of the Board, shall be permitted only when such absence is due to extraordinary 

circumstances such as serious illness. Whether the absence of a member due to any 

other reason constitutes such an extraordinary circumstance shall be determined by 

majority vote of the Board in the case of meetings of the Board or Committees, or by 

majority vote of the Executive Committee in the case of meetings of any Committee 

Attachment J1 
Page 8 of 19

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 140 of 170



 

9 

where the Executive Committee can make such determination before the meeting of 

the Committee. Members requesting approval to participate via Electronic Means 

shall not participate in the vote to approve such participation. If more members are 

approved to participate via electronic means than can be accommodated by available 

Electronic Means, then members will be accommodated in the order the requests were 

received. For the purposes of determining quorum electronic participation is not 

included. 

1.8 Removal and Vacancies. 

a.) Removal. Any member serving on the Board may be removed from office by the 

Commission for misfeasance, malfeasance or willful neglect of duty.  

b.) Assignment of Membership. An individual, once designated as a member of the 

Board, shall not designate anyone else to fulfill his duties as a member of the Board 

on a fulltime, temporary, or interim basis. 

c.) Vacancies.  Except as to members who serve Ex-Officio, the Commission shall fill 

any vacancy for an unexpired term. 

1.9 Attendance.  

All members of the Board are expected to attend meetings of the Board as well as 

meetings of committees to which they have been appointed.  At each Annual Meeting of 

the Board, the Executive Director shall present the attendance record of each member of 

the Board for the prior fiscal year.  If a member of the Board fails to regularly attend 

Board and/or Committee meetings during the year, a recommendation may be made to 

remove him from the Board unless extenuating circumstances are demonstrated.  If such 

recommendation is approved by the Board then a request in writing shall be forwarded 

to the Commission for consideration. 

Attachment J1 
Page 9 of 19

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 141 of 170



 

10 

1.10  Conflicts of Interests.  

Each member of the Board is a public officer who must abstain from voting when a 

conflict of interest exists pursuant to Chapter 112, Florida Statutes.  It is the duty of each 

member to make known through verbal and written communication to the Board and the 

General Counsel when a conflict of interest exists and to refrain from voting and/or 

participating in actions to be taken on the item for which they have a conflict of interest.  

For the purpose of this subsection, the term participate means any attempt to influence 

the decision by oral or written communication.  This provision shall not be construed to 

contravene Section 159.703(6), Florida Statutes. 

2. ARTICLE II - OFFICERS 

2.1 Officers. 

 The officers of the Authority shall consist of the Chair, Vice-Chair and Treasurer.  The 

Board may elect additional officers as required or desired. 

2.2 The Chair. 

a.) The Chair shall preside at all Board meetings.  

b.) The Chair, Vice Chair or, if the Vice Chair is unavailable, the Chair’s designee, shall 

represent the Authority in all official business.   

c.) The Chair shall maintain oversight of all Board committee activity, including the 

timely planning, implementation and completion of all Board-directed action. The 

Chair shall initially appoint members and chairpersons of all committees at the 

Annual Meeting, and may make or change appointments at any other time as the Chair 

deems necessary.   

d.) The Chair shall sign all instruments which require his signature.  

Attachment J1 
Page 10 of 19

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 142 of 170



 

11 

e.) The Chair, with the consent of the Board, may appoint other committees or task forces 

as may be deemed helpful to the Board.  Such committees or task forces shall consist 

of members of the Board and may consist of members of the community with 

expertise in particular areas and shall perform such functions and possess such powers 

as approved by the Board. 

2.3 Vice-Chair.  

The Vice-Chair shall perform the duties of the Chair when the Chair is absent or the 

position is vacated and have such other responsibilities as may be designated by the 

Chair.   

2.4 Treasurer.  

a.) The Treasurer shall serve as the Chair of the Budget Committee.   

b.) The Treasurer shall review the financial records of the Authority, including all funds 

received and disbursed.   

c.) The Treasurer shall have the responsibility to ensure the Authority’s financial 

accountability and compliance and shall perform such other duties as may be 

properly required of the Treasurer.   

d.) The Treasurer shall sign all instruments which require his signature. 

2.5 Election, Eligibility, Terms and Removal of Officers. 

a.) Election of Officers.  The election of the Officers of the Authority shall occur at the 

last meeting of the Board each fiscal year, with the term in office to begin October 1 

of the next fiscal year. All Officers shall hold office strictly at the pleasure of the 

Board.   

b.) Eligibility. All members of the Board or their designees shall be eligible to be an 

officer of the Authority. 

Attachment J1 
Page 11 of 19

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 143 of 170



 

12 

c.) Terms of Office.  The Chair and Vice-Chair shall serve no more than two 

consecutive terms in office unless additional consecutive terms are approved by the 

affirmative vote of a majority of the Board Present at a meeting at which a quorum 

is present at any duly called regular or special meeting of the Board. 

d.) Removal of Officers. Any officer may be removed with or without cause at any 

time by the affirmative vote of a majority of the Board Present at a meeting at which 

a quorum is present at any duly called regular or special meeting of the Board.  

3. ARTICLE III - COMMITTEES 

3.1 Conduct of Committee Meeting.   

Each committee shall have at least three (3) members and shall meet at the call of its 

Chair.  Meetings of any committee, including an advisory committee or task force, may 

be held at such time and place as such committee Chair may from time to time schedule, 

so long as they comply with the requirements of Florida’s Government in the Sunshine 

Law.   Each committee shall keep minutes and audio recordings of its meetings and 

report its activities to the Board at the Regular or Special Meeting as required. 

3.2 Standing Committees.  

There shall be five (5) standing Committees established by the Authority: Audit 

Committee, Budget Committee, Bylaws Committee, Executive Committee and 

Investment Advisory Committee. The Committees shall perform the duties listed below, 

and all other duties assigned by the Chair. 

3.3 Audit Committee. 

The Audit Committee shall consist of three (3) members of the Board.  The Treasurer 

shall not serve on the committee but is encouraged to attend all meetings of the 

committee; the Treasurer’s attendance shall not be required to conduct a meeting of the 

Attachment J1 
Page 12 of 19

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 144 of 170



 

13 

committee.  The committee shall engage an auditor to conduct the annual audit pursuant 

to Section 218.39, Florida Statutes, review the Audit Plan, and assist the Board in 

fulfilling its fiduciary responsibilities relating to accounting and reporting practices.  The 

committee will receive the audit report and report both the findings and response of the 

Executive Director to the findings to the Board for approval and make recommendations 

to the Authority’s system of internal controls as warranted.  The committee shall also be 

responsible for ensuring that the annual Financial Audit Report and any response to the 

Report are filed with the Auditor General’s Office and with the Clerk of Court. 

3.4 Budget Committee.   

The Budget Committee shall assist the Board in assuring the budgetary and financial 

practices of the Authority are sound and prudent.  The Budget Committee shall develop 

the annual operating budget and present its recommendations to the Board at the first 

meeting of the Board in October, if not before.  The Treasurer shall be the Chair of the 

Budget Committee. 

3.5 Bylaws Committee.  

The Bylaws Committee shall review and recommend changes as needed to the Bylaws 

of the Authority, bylaws of any committees, Charter of the Authority, and any other 

governing documents on an annual basis.  The Bylaws Committee shall meet more 

frequently if needed.  The duties of the Bylaws Committee may be fulfilled by the 

Executive Committee at the discretion of the Chair. 

3.6 Executive Committee. 

a.) Composition, Meetings and Powers.  The Executive Committee shall at a minimum 

include the Chair, Vice Chair, Treasurer, and the immediate past Chair if still a 

member of the Board.  The Executive Committee shall meet at the call of the Chair. 

Attachment J1 
Page 13 of 19

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 145 of 170



 

14 

The Executive Committee shall have the general powers and duties of management 

of the Authority. The Executive Committee shall establish, review and recommend 

changes to the policies of the Authority as needed. The Executive Committee, or in 

emergency situations the Chair, shall exercise the powers and authority of the Board 

in between meetings of the Board.   

b.) Ratification and Notification.  If the Executive Committee or Chair exercises the 

power of the Board, the committee or Chair shall seek ratification of its actions at the 

next meeting of the Board. The Executive Director or General Counsel shall notify 

the Board within 72 hours of any extraordinary actions taken by the Executive 

Committee or Chair.  Extraordinary actions shall include, but are not limited to, 

termination of the Executive Director, termination or cancellation of contracts, and 

authorization of expenditures which require Board approval according to the 

Authority’s purchasing policy.  

c.) Delegation of Powers and Duties. The Executive Committee, with approval of the 

Board, may delegate the general powers and duties of management of the Authority 

and/or Innovation Park to a fulltime employee, including the Executive Director as 

defined in Article VIII, or to any person, firm, or corporation which assumes 

responsibility by contract.   

3.7 Investment Advisory Committee.   

The Investment Advisory Committee shall assist the Board with review and oversight of 

the Authority’s investment policy, objectives, guidelines and investment performance; 

provide recommendations to the Board on major investment objectives, strategies and 

policies; and oversee the Authority’s investment consultants and/or fund managers.  

Attachment J1 
Page 14 of 19

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 146 of 170



 

15 

Authority, composition, and responsibilities of the committee shall be detailed in the 

committee charter approved by the Board. 

4. ARTICLE IV - DELEGATION OF DUTIES 

4.1 Delegation of Duties.  

 No officer of the Authority or Chair of any committee shall delegate any of his duties to 

any other person or persons, except with the approval of the Board.  The Executive 

Committee may, in case of the absence or inability of any officer to act, delegate the 

duty of such officer to any Board member whom the Executive Committee may select, 

and the Executive Committee shall report such selection to the Board within 72 hours.  

5. ARTICLE V - OATH OF OFFICE AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE 

5.1 Oath of Office.  

Each member of the Board, before entering upon the member’s duties shall take and 

subscribe the oath or affirmation as required by the Constitution of the State of Florida.  

The record of such oath or affirmation shall be filed with the Department of State and 

with the Clerk of the Circuit Court.  Each member shall provide a record of such oath or 

affirmation to the Executive Director before assuming the functions of a member.   

5.2 Statement of Financial Interest.   

Each member of the Board shall also file a statement of financial interest within thirty 

(30) days of the date of the appointment in accordance with Section 112.3145, Florida 

Statutes.  Each member shall provide written confirmation to the Executive Director of 

the submission of the statement of financial interest within thirty (30) days of the date of 

his appointment. 

Attachment J1 
Page 15 of 19

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 147 of 170



 

16 

6. ARTICLE VI - RESOLUTIONS 

6.1 Resolutions.    

Any action taken by the Board may be authorized by resolution at any regular or special 

meeting. 

7. ARTICLE VII - FINANCES AND FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT 

7.1 Finances.  

The funds of the Authority shall be deposited in its name with such banks, trust 

companies, other financial institutions, or as otherwise authorized by law, as the Board 

may from time to time designate. 

7.2 Audit.  

An audit of the books and records of the Authority shall be conducted annually by a 

certified public accountant.  When received, the audit report, together with all related 

documents, shall be reviewed by the Audit Committee and promptly presented to the 

Board for its consideration.  

7.3 Execution of Contracts.   

Unless otherwise delegated by policy approved by the Board, only the Chair or the Vice-

Chair if the Chair so designates in specific cases, is authorized to enter into any contract 

or execute and deliver any instrument in the name of and on behalf of the Authority, and 

only then with the ratification of the Board.  All documents executed by the Chair shall 

be provided promptly to the Executive Director, who serves as the Custodian of Records 

for the Authority, and to the Board members for their review. 

7.4 Checks.   

a.) Checks drawn in amount greater than $10,000 shall be co-signed by the Chair and 

Treasurer. 

Attachment J1 
Page 16 of 19

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 148 of 170



 

17 

b.) Checks drawn in amount not more than $10,000 shall be signed by the Chair, 

Treasurer, or Executive Director.  

c.) The Vice Chair shall co-sign or sign checks in the absence of the Chair or Treasurer 

in accordance with the other requirements of this section. 

8. ARTICLE VIII - EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 

8.1 Duties and Responsibilities.    

Under the supervision of the Board, the Executive Director shall exercise the general 

powers and duties of management of the Authority and such other duties and 

responsibilities as assigned by the Board or the Executive Committee pursuant to the 

Executive Director’s employment agreement, or policies of the Authority approved by 

the Board.  

8.2 Custodian of Records.   

The Executive Director shall serve as the Custodian of Records for the Authority and be 

responsible for maintaining all of the records of the Authority at its principal office.  The 

Executive Director shall also be responsible for ensuring and maintaining documentation 

establishing that each member of the Board has taken the oath or affirmation and has 

filed a statement of financial interest as set forth in Article V herein. 

8.3 Responsibilities to the Board.  

The Executive Director shall report to the Board the actions of any Board member or 

Committee member which in the Executive Director's judgment is in conflict with any 

applicable state statute, city or county ordinance or Charter, bylaws or policies of the 

Authority. Such actions must first be reported to the Executive Committee, unless the 

issue involves the actions of the Executive Committee, or any of its members, in which 

case the issue shall be reported to the full Board. In the latter circumstance, the 

Attachment J1 
Page 17 of 19

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 149 of 170



 

18 

Executive Director shall request that three Board members ask for a Special meeting of 

the full Board consistent with the requirements of Section 1.6(c) herein. 

9. ARTICLE IX - PARLIAMENTARY AUTHORITY 

9.1 Parliamentary Authority. 

 Roberts Rules of Order, newly revised (“Robert’s Rules”), shall govern all proceedings 

of the Board where applicable.  When Roberts Rules are in conflict with these Bylaws, 

the Authority’s Bylaws will control.   

10. ARTICLE X- INDEMNIFICATION OF MEMBERS, OFFICERS, EMPLOYEES AND 
OTHERS 

10.1  Indemnification of Members, Officers, Employees and Others.  

The Authority shall indemnify, to the full extent provided by law, any person who is 

named a party to any proceeding due to his service as a member, officer and employee 

of the Authority, or who serves at the Authority's written request, against liability and 

expenses incurred in connection with such proceeding, so long as the person acted in 

good faith and in a manner he reasonably believed to be in the best interest of the 

Authority.  The Authority shall develop an ongoing plan for risk management and 

indemnification of members, officers and employees of the Authority and those serving 

at the Authority’s written request, taking into consideration Federal and State Laws.  

This paragraph shall not be construed to apply to any acts of a member, officer or 

employee of the Authority, or those serving at the Authority’s written request, 

undertaken prior to the effective date of the adoption of this provision, it being the intent 

that such acts would be covered by the Bylaws in effect prior to the effective date of 

adoption of this provision. 

Attachment J1 
Page 18 of 19

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 150 of 170



 

19 

11. ARTICLE XI - IMPLEMENTATION AND AMENDMENTS 

11.1  Implementation and Amendments 

a.) These Bylaws may be repealed, amended or altered or new Bylaws may be adopted 

by a majority vote at any meeting of the Board; however, any proposed amendments 

shall be distributed to the members at least five (5) working days before the Board 

meeting at which they are to be considered. 

b.) The Board shall be bound by and conformed to all of these Bylaws, as they exist at 

the time of their joining the Board, or as they may thereafter be changed or 

amended. 

c.) These Bylaws shall become effective immediately upon adoption by majority vote 

of the Board. The Board’s interpretation of the Bylaws shall be considered the 

correct interpretation when reached by majority vote. 

12. ARTICLE XII - FISCAL YEAR 

12.1  Fiscal Year.  

 The fiscal year of the organization shall begin on October 1 and end on September 30. 

 

Attachment J1 
Page 19 of 19

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 151 of 170



 
 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

  

 

  

  

 

  

 
 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

  

 

  

  

 

 

Leon County Research & Development Authority 
Internal Controls & Operating Procedures 

Revised: 12/1/201608/03/2021 

a. Internal Controls Procedures 

Attachment J2 
Page 1 of 8

 Accounts receivable reports are reviewed periodically throughout each 

month for any delinquent receivables.  Any delinquent receivables will 

be followed up on immediately with the tenant by the property manager. 

 Agent has a year-end closing procedure in place and reconciles all 

balance sheet accounts prior to year end closing. 

 Personnel independent of the check writing process receives all bank 

statements unopened and inspect contents for any unexpected or 

unusual transactions. This person reviews all payments and inspects 

signatures. 

 Bank reconciliations are performed and reviewed within 20 days of 

each month end. 

 A review of the bank reconciliations for any unusual reconciling items, 

old checks or deposits, and for agreement to the general ledger is  

performed by personnel independent of the check writing process. 

 The aged receivables and payables are reviewed on a monthly basis for 

accounts requiring additional follow-up action due to age and/or balance. 

This is done by someone outside of accounting. 

 Adjustments to AR or AP are approved by the Executive Director or 

Board Treasurer prior to removal.  Any adjustments to such accounts are 

printed monthly to be included in the monthly reports for review by the 

Executive Director for any unauthorized transactions 

 All purchases shall be made in accordance with Purchasing Policy 11-03. 

 Checks are cut by one person and signed by Board members and 

management who do not have access to change accounting records. As 

provided by the Bylaws of the Authority, tThe Chair and Treasurer must 

co-sign checks greater than $10,000; the Chair, Treasurer, or Executive 

Director shall sign checks $10,000 or less; the Vice Chair shall sign for 

the Chair or Treasurer in their absence. An independent person (not one 

of the people who cuts or signs checks) reviews the bank statement each 

month for any unusual items. 

 Electronic ACH payments and wire transfers may be made in lieu of 

payment by check provided transactions are initiated and approved by 

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 152 of 170



 
 

 
 

 

     

 

   

 

   

  

 

  

  

  

    

  

 

  

 

  

  

 

 

  
 

 
 

 

  

 

  

 

 

  

   

  

 

 

Attachment J2 
Page 2 of 8

Leon County Research & Development Authority 
Internal Controls & Operating Procedures 

Revised: 12/1/201608/03/2021 

two different Authorized Persons.  Authorized Persons include the Chair, 

Vice Chair, Treasurer, Executive Director, and Accounting Director.  

Transactions for amounts over $10,000 require email approval by the 

Chair and Treasurer to the Authorized Persons with such approval 

evidence retained with the invoice; the Vice Chair shall provide email 

approval for the Chair or Treasurer in their absence. 

 A budget comparison report is included in each monthly report. Any 

significant variation from budget is explained in a variation report 

provided by the property manager. 

 All reports are reviewed and reconciled to the general ledger before 

being distributed. 

 Banking stock is kept in a locked drawer when not in use and not accessible by 
check signers. 

 No signature stamps are used. 

 Monthly transactions are entered as soon as reasonably possible in the 

general ledger. Written policies and procedures are currently in place 

regarding the reconciliation process and will be updated for any 

changes made as soon as possible after such change is made. 

 All mail is opened by someone outside of accounting and stamped as to 

date received. These are then received by accounting with another date 

stamp and passed onto property management for coding and approval. 

 Payments for rent are received into the accounting software as soon as 

deposited (daily).  The software keeps track of balances due/owed which 

are reflected on the aged receivable detail that is monitored carefully each 

month.  No cash payments are accepted. 

 Voided checks are maintained in a monthly folder. All checks are 

numerical in order and tracked by number. 

 The personnel who will create new vendors in the system must receive a 

W9 and insurance certificates before creating a new vendor.  This person is 

a different person than the person who cuts checks each month. 

 All journal entries are printed and reviewed monthly by the Treasurer 

and another independent party with Agent. 

 Billing for maintenance and other reimbursable costs is performed monthly. 

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 153 of 170



 
 

 
 

 

     

 

 

   
 

 
 

     
 

 
 

   
 

 

  
 

 
 

  
 

 

 

 

    

 
 

 
 

   
 

 

   

  
 

 
 

   

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

   

 

  

 

  

 

 

 

 

Attachment J2 
Page 3 of 8

Leon County Research & Development Authority 
Internal Controls & Operating Procedures 

Revised: 12/1/201608/03/2021 

 There is currently an accounting policies and procedures manual in place 

at agent’s office. This will be maintained and updated as needed to 

comply with the Authority’s policies and procedures. 

 A formal disaster recovery plan is currently in place. This will be updated as 

needed to comply with the Authority’s policy. 

 An IT policy is currently in place. This will be updated as needed to comply 

with the Authority’s policy. 

 Background and reference checks are done on all employees prior to hiring. 

All detail is kept in each employee file. 

 A records retention system is currently in place. This will be updated as 

needed to comply with the Authority’s policy. 

 An inventory will be done on all fixed assets at Innovation Park prior to 

October 1 each year. 

 Agent will assist in evaluating the current insurance coverage in place 

and any need to modify. 

 Employee files will be kept for each Authority employee that records 

any and all leave time used, approval of such time, and leave balances. 

b. Mail Processing and Payable Processing 

 Mail is opened by designated personnel and stamped with date received. 

 Invoices delivered to accounting and stamped with accounting date 

received and then placed in appropriate property manager folder for 

approval. 

 Once approved, given to accounting department for entry into system. 

 Accounting scans in payable aging detail and invoices in order. 

 Payable Aging Detail and invoices are emailed to the Executive Director of 

the Authority or Board Treasurer for approval of payment with a blind 

carbon copy to each of the Executive Committee members. Upon 

approval, Accounting Director cuts the checks, and the runner delivers 

them for signatures. Two Board officer signatures are required for check 

amounts greater than $10,000, while check amounts less than or equal to 

$10,000 may be signed by the Executive Director; The Executive Director 

and officers of the Board (Chair, Vice-Chair and Treasurer) have signature 

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 154 of 170



 
 

 
 

 

     

  

 

 

  

 

 

 

 
 

  
 

   
 

     

   

 

 

   
 

   

  
 

 

      

  

 
 

  

 

   

 

 
 

 

 

 

  

    

   

 

 

 

     

 

 

 

Attachment J2 
Page 4 of 8

Leon County Research & Development Authority 
Internal Controls & Operating Procedures 

Revised: 12/1/201608/03/2021 

authority. 

 Once the checks are received back from the Authority for payment; the 

runner checks the list for any missing invoices and/or checks and makes 

sure the appropriate signatures are there. 

 The runner copies all the checks and then mails out.  Invoices are then 

filed in the appropriate folders with check copies. 

 Electronic ACH Payments and wire transfers may be made in lieu of 

payment by check provided transactions are initiated and approved by 

two different Authorized Persons.  Authorized Persons include the Chair, 

Vice Chair, Treasurer, Executive Director, and Accounting Director.  

Transactions for amounts over $10,000 require email approval by the 

Chair and Treasurer to the Authorized Persons with such approval 

evidence retained with the invoice; the Vice Chair shall provide email 

approval for the Chair or Treasurer in their absence. 

c. Check Deposits and Invoice Transmittals 

 Mail is opened by designated personnel and stamped with date received. 

 Checks are copied and endorsed for deposit. 

 A deposit transmittal is created and saved on the agent’s computer a 

folder dedicated to the Authority.  This folder is password protected and 

cannot be accessed outside of certain accounting personnel and certain 

property managers. 

 Checks are written up on a deposit slip and taken to the bank by the runner. 

 Deposits slips are given to designated personnel for recording in the 

Excel checkbook. 

 Deposit slip is given back to accounting for entry into the accounting system. 

 Once entered into accounting system, the deposit slip is attached to 

invoice transmittal and check copies and given to Accounting Director 

for filing. 

d. Tenant Invoices 

 Updated Rent Roll created and charges made by the 25th of each month. 

 List of tenant contacts printed out and invoice numbers assigned to 

each tenant. 

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 155 of 170



 
 

 
 

 

     

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

  

  
 

 
 

   
 

   

      

 
 

 

    
 

   

  

 

  

  

   

 

  

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

  

     

  

 

 

 

 

  

  

 

Attachment J2 
Page 5 of 8

Leon County Research & Development Authority 
Internal Controls & Operating Procedures 

Revised: 12/1/201608/03/2021 

 Create invoices using assigned numbers and give to another member 

of accounting to review. 

 Once reviewed, invoices are mailed or emailed to each tenant as specified 

on the contact list. 

 If a tenant is more than 30 days delinquent, a reminder invoice will be 

sent and the property manager will contact the tenant by email and/or 

telephone. 

 If a tenant is more than 45 days delinquent, the property manager will 

again follow-up by email and telephone. 

 At 60 days delinquent, tenants will be given 3 days notice of eviction 

for non-payment. 

 If the above efforts to collect fail, a collection agency may be utilized. 

e. Financial Statement Preparation Procedures 

 SPIA, FLPRIME and FLGIT information is received from the Authority. 

 Bank statements are received from the bank for the month just ended. 

Original bank statements are sent directly from the bank to the Chairman 

of the Audit Committee. 

 Journal entries are made in the accounting system for any needed 

adjustments such as bank fees/interest income/depreciation/amortization, 

etc. All journal entries are verified in-house by someone independent of the 

accounting process and also by the Treasurer of the Board. 

 All bank accounts are reconciled to the general ledger. 

 All balances are verified. All receivables are double checked; all 

payables verified. The trial balance is gone through thoroughly to make 

sure all balances agree. 

 Budget comparisons are printed and given to the Property Manager to 

review and clarify any differences from budget to actual. 

 All reports are printed as preliminary (pending any adjustments above) 

and submitted to the Board Treasurer for review. 

 Once the budget comparison explanations are received from the Property 

Manager, all reports are printed to Adobe PDF and assembled into report 

format. The report is then sent to the Executive Director and the Treasurer 

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 156 of 170



 
 

 
 

 

     

 
 

    
 

  
 

 
 

  
 

 
 

 
 

   
 

 

  

   

  

  

 

  

 

 
 

 
 

 

 

  

  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  

 
 

 

 

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

Attachment J2 
Page 6 of 8

Leon County Research & Development Authority 
Internal Controls & Operating Procedures 

Revised: 12/1/201608/03/2021 

of the Board for presentation at the monthly Board of Governors Meeting. 

f. Audited Financial Statement Follow-Up 

1. File Audit with Leon County Board of County Commissioners 

 Submit to Leon County Board of County Commissioners & 

Authority’s Board of Governors. 

 Cover letter from Executive Director. 

2. Auditor General Report 

 File within 45 days of Audit Acceptance 

 General info at: www.myflorida.com/audgen 

 1 electronic copy as unsecured PDF emailed 

to flaudgen_localgovt@aud.state.fl.us 

 File name [year] [name] .pdf; all lower case for name. 

For example: “2010 leon county research and 

development authority.pdf” 

 1 hard copy plus 1 check list 

to: Auditor General 

Local Government Audits/342 

Claude Pepper Building, Room 401 

111 W. Madison St. 

Tallahassee, FL 32399-

1450 

3. Annual Financial Report to Department of Financial Services 

 Complete Online at 

https://apps.fldfs.com/LOCALGOV/Default.as 

px 

o Confirm/Update General Information 

o Add Revenues (all ENTERPRISE): 

 Code 361100: Interest 

 2010: $13,605 (Nonoperating Revenues 

“Interest Income”) 

 Code 362000: Rents and Royalties 

 2010: $1,529,967 (Total Operating 

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 157 of 170

https://apps.fldfs.com/LOCALGOV/Default.as
mailto:flaudgen_localgovt@aud.state.fl.us
www.myflorida.com/audgen


 
 

 
 

 

     

 

 

 

  
 

  
 

 
 

 

  

 

 

 

 
 

  
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 

   

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Attachment J2 
Page 7 of 8

Leon County Research & Development Authority 
Internal Controls & Operating Procedures 

Revised: 12/1/201608/03/2021 

Revenue 
s) 

o Add Expenditures (all ENTERPRISE) 

 Code 552 (Industry Development) 

 Account 10 (Personal Services) 

o 2010: $145,128 (Operating 

Expenses “Salaries & 

Employee Benefits”) 

 Account 30 (Operating Expenses) 

o 2010: $1,403,935 (“Total 

Operating Expenses” minus 

“Salaries & Employee Benefits” 

 Account 70 (Debt Service) 

o 2010: $153,800 (Non-

Operating Revenue/Expenses 

– Sum of “Amortization of 

Bond Issuance Costs” and 

“Interest on Bonds”) 

o Add Debt Information 

 Amount of Long Term Debt 

 2010: $3,235,858 (Sum of “Current 

Portion of Bond Payable” plus “Bond 

payable net of 

current portion”) 

o Audit 

 Add Audit Information (firm, date, etc) 

 Completion date is the date of letter from 

Audit 
or 

o Certification 

 Generally No Financial Emergency 

 Therefore next question is NO 

 Yes in terms of compliance and matching the 

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 158 of 170



 
 

 
 

 

     

    
 

 

 

   

  

 

 

 
 

 

  

 

  
 

   

 

 
 

 

   

 

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

Attachment J2 
Page 8 of 8

Leon County Research & Development Authority 
Internal Controls & Operating Procedures 

Revised: 12/1/201608/03/2021 

Audit to AFR submission. 

 Certify  CFO  &  Chairman  

 Also need to submit the Audited Financial Statements to 

certify the AFR submission. The Statements can be 

submitted by providing a link to them on the website, 

electronically as a PDF attachment to 

localgov@myfloridacfo.com or through the mail to: 

Bureau of Local Government 

200 East Gaines 
Street 

Tallahassee, FL. 32399-0354 
4. Public Depositor Annual Report to the Chief Financial 

Officer 

 Form DFS-J1-1009 

 Filed each November; certification of QPDs (Qualified 

Public Depositories) – short form to be filed with 

Department of Financial Services 

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 159 of 170

mailto:localgov@myfloridacfo.com


 

 

 

 

   
   

 
   

 
   
     
   

 
   

     
 

 

 
 

   
   

       

   
   

Attachment J3 
Page 1 of 3

Leon County R&D Authority 

20‐01 Investment Procedures and Internal Controls Manual 

August 4, 2020 

Revised: August 3, 2021 

Scope 

This document applies to procedures and controls related to investment accounts and related 
transactions. 

Objectives 

To ensure that all investment accounts and transactions are properly authorized and recorded in the 
accounting records of the Authority, and in accordance with the Investment Policy, as well as to prevent 
losses of funds which might arise from fraud, employee error, and misrepresentation by third parties, or 
imprudent actions by employees of the Authority. 

Designated Controller 

The procedures and controls below include references to “Controller”.  This position is designated by the 
Board of Governors and may be an employee of the Authority or an employee of a contractor.  If an 
employee, the Controller is under the supervision of the Executive Director.  If an employee of a 
contractor, the Controller is under the supervision of the contractor, while subject to oversight by the  
Executive Director in accordance with any related service contract. In either case, the Controller shall 
report to the Executive Committee or the Board of Governors any issues or differences with the 
Executive Director related to compliance with this procedure and controls. The Executive Director may 
not serve as the Controller. 

General Controls:  

1. All new investment accounts must be authorized by the Board.
2. The Controller will verify Board authorization for the creation of any new accounts.
3. The function of authorizing or performing investment transactions will be separated from the

function of recording the transaction.
4. Confirmation. All telephone or other electronically initiated transactions will be supported by

written communications and approved by a person other than the person initiating the
transaction.

5. The Controller will require written documentation of any transaction reflected in the
organization’s banking account, and properly record the transaction in the organization’s
accounting records.

6. All securities purchased or sold will be transferred only under the "deliver versus payment"
(DVP) method to ensure that funds or securities are not released until all criteria relating to the
specific transaction are met.

7. The Executive Director will accept, on behalf of and in the name of the Authority, bank trust
receipts or confirmations as evidence of actual delivery of the obligations or securities in return

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 160 of 170



 

 

  
     

    
  

 

        

  
    

  

   
    

     
   

  

  
   

   
   

   
  

 

 
 

   
    

  

Attachment J3 
Page 2 of 3

for investment of funds. 
8. Trust receipts or confirmations shall fully describe the various obligations or securities held. The

receipt or confirmation shall state that the investment is held in the name of the Authority.
9. The actual obligations or securities, whether in book‐entry or physical form, on which trust

receipts or confirmations are issued, may be held by a third‐party custodial bank and/or
institution or a designated correspondent bank which has a correspondent relationship to the
Authority's third‐party custodian.

10. The Controller and the Executive Director will be notified electronically by the bank of any
deposit or withdrawal transactions $10,000 or greater.

Withdrawals: 

1. Withdrawals from investment accounts shall only be made by wire transfer to the organization’s
checking account by the fund holder.

2. Withdrawals from the investment accounts that are to be transferred to the organization’s
checking account are initiated by the Executive Director in order to meet operating cash needs,
as approved by the Investment Advisory Committee, Executive Committee, or Board Chair as
required by the Investment Policy section VIII.

3. The Executive Director shall not have access to check stock, or the ability to enter transactions
into the accounting records. However, as permitted by the Bylawspolicy, the Executive Director
may sign checks, up to $10,000, created and entered into the accounting records by the
Controller.

4. Changes to withdrawal banking instructions on file with the investment account require two
authorized signatures from the Board Chair, Treasurer, and Executive Director.

Deposits: 

1. Deposits to the investment accounts from the organization checking account are performed by
“repetitive” wire transfers scripts pre‐authorized with the bank wire transfer department
utilizing the bank’s treasury management system. The treasury management system must utilize
multi factor authentication and require two‐party initiation and approval for all transactions, as
well as creation of, or changes to, users and user permissions. No other wire transfers are
permitted without approval from the Board Chair and Treasurer.

2. All wire transfers for deposits to investment accounts require two party initiation and
authorization. The Board Chair, or the Vice Chair in the Chair’s absence,  and the Board
Treasurer must authorize wire transfers in writing delivered directly to the Executive Director
and the Controller. may initiate and authorize transfers of unlimited amounts subject to
availability of funds. The Controller may initiate a repetitive wire transfers up to $50,000, but it
must be authorized by the Board Treasurer.

3. The Executive Director and Controller, using the bank’s treasury management system, shall
initiate and approve the authorized wire transfer. To serve as a backup, if necessary, the Board 
Chair, Vice Chair, and Treasurer may be granted access to the bank’s treasury system to provide 
the two‐party initiation and approval of transactions.  

4. Confirmation of the executed transaction shall be delivered to the Board Chair, Vice Chair and
Treasurer. 

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 161 of 170



 

 

 
   

     

      
   

 

Attachment J3 
Page 3 of 3

The Executive Director shall advise the Board Chair and Treasurer verbally, in person or via 
telephone, the details of the wire transfer after following the investment accounts notification 
process. Email and/or text communication alone shall NOT BE sufficient to begin the wire transfer 
process. 

The Executive Director may not initiate or authorize wire transfers with the bank. 

3.5.Changes to the Wire Transfer Agreement and Repetitive Wire Transfer Instructions must be 
approved by the Board Chair and Treasurer. 

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 162 of 170



 

 

 

  
  

  
  

  
  

    
 

    

     
   

  

   

 

  

Attachment K 
Page 1 of 1

Account Number _ __ "Account" 

RESOLUTION OF A STATE OR LOCAL GOVERNMENT OPERATING UNDER AUTHORITY OF A 

BOARD, COUNCIL OR OTHER TYPE GOVERNING BODY 

LEON COUNTY RESEARCH & DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 
Hancock Whitney Bank 

Branch Name: DOWNTOWN TALLAHASSEE/4405 

Name/User ID: 

Name 

2051 E PAUL DIRAC DRIVE SUITE 100 

Address 

TALLAHASSEE, FL 32310 

City, State, and Zip Code 

A. We, the undersigned, certify that: we are the President and Secretary/Clerk of the above-named State or Local Government (hereinafter referred to as the 
Governing 

properly called and duly held on August 3. 2021 

Authority") duly created, organized, and operating under the Constitution and Laws of the State of FLORIDA Federal Employer ID 
Number and; that the following is a true, correct, and certified copy of a resolution adopted at a meeting of the Governing Authority, 

and; that this resolution has been properly entered into the minutes of the Governing Authority, 
having not been modified or rescinded. 

B. To be resolved that: 

(1) The Financial Institution named above is designated as a depository for the funds of this Governing Authority; 

(2) This resolution shall continue to have effect until express written notice of its recession, modification, or cancellation has been received and recorded by this
Financial Institution; 

(3) All transactions, if any, with respect to any deposits, withdrawals, rediscounts and borrowings by or on behalf of the Governing Authority with this Financial
Institution prior to the adoption of this resolution are hereby ratified, approved and confirmed; 

(4) Any of the persons named below, so long as they are acting in a representative capacity as agents of the Governing Authority, are authorized to make any and
all contracts, agreements, stipulations and orders which they may deem advisable and necessary to open an Account(s) with the Financial Institution and for the
effective exercise of powers over said account(s) for the transacting of all business concerning funds deposited in, moneys borrowed from, or other business
transacted by and between this Governing Authority and said Financial Institution and; to endorse checks and orders for the payment of moneys and withdrawal of
funds on deposit with this Financial Institution, subject to any restriction(s) stated below. The Governing Authority agrees to, shall be bound by, and otherwise be
liable for, the terms and conditions of all such contracts, agreements, stipulations and orders. It shall be the responsibility of the Governing Authority to provide 
written notice to this Financial Institution should the authority of any of the agents it has so authorized to transact business on its behalf has been terminated. This 
Financial Institution shall incur no liability for acting in good faith upon the representations of said agents until such notice is properly given; 

(5) Any and all prior resolutions adopted by this governing authority and certified to this Financial Institution as governing the operation of the Governing
Authority's account(s), are in full force and effect, unless supplemented or modified by this authorization; 

(6) The Governing Authority agrees to the terms and conditions of any account agreement, properly opened by any authorized representative of the Governing
Authority and authorizes the Financial Institution named above, at any time, to charge the Governing Authority for all checks, drafts, or other orders, for the 
payment of moneys, drawn on the Financial Institution; 

C. Print the name(s) and title(s) of any person who is authorized to exercise the powers listed below: 

, CHAIR 

, VICE CHAIR 

     , TREASURER 

RONALD J MILLER JR, EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR  

D. I further certify that the Governing Authority has, and at the time of adoption of this resolution did have, full power and lawful authority to adopt the foregoing
resolution(s) and to confer the powers granted to the person(s) named herein; 

T� 
Printed Name 

Hancock Whitney Bank, Member FDIC Rev 05/26/2018 Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 163 of 170



 

 

 

Attachment L1 
Page 1 of 3

Leon County R&D Authority 
Executive Director Report 

August 3, 2021 

1. Priority 1a: Incubator Construction and Development 
a. Funding 

i. Worked with architect on preliminary cost estimate overrun.  Advised committee members, board 
chair, and Greg Vaday of issue along with approach to identifying additional funding. Setup 
NFIL Oversight committee meeting to consider options. Notified remaining BOG members via 
email, and EDA project manager in quarterly report. 

ii. Worked with Bill & grant writer to prepare application for funding through the Florida Job 
Growth Grant Fund to help fill the funding gap for NFIL construction. Submitted on 7/21/21. 
Received follow up call from DEO Analyst on 7/23/21 with questions and expressing enthusiasm 
for the type of jobs to be created by project. Meeting in person with Representative Alexander to 
get help support through the process. 

iii. Met with The University Financing Foundation and Ballard Partners to brief about ongoing 
developments at Innovation Park.  TUFF presented options to the NFIL Oversight Committee. 
Negotiating proposed terms to be presented to BOG at August meeting. 

iv. Discussion with Hancock Whitney Bank regarding potential debt issue to cover NFIL funding 
and cash flow timing gaps. 

v. Worked with FSU and OEV to request $500,000 each for initial payments of matching funds. 
vi. Updated FSU and OEV regarding current design and funding issues. 

b. Design 
i. Two NFIL interior design and two design development meetings were conducted. 

ii. Worked with Nhu Energy to identify opportunities to build in infrastructure for solar energy 
production and storage and controls which can be added as funds are available. 

iii. Visited new FSU CAPS facility to view finishes being considered for NFIL. 
iv. Worked with City on information needed to consider extension of natural gas utility services to 

NFIL site and potentially to Danfoss expansion. 
v. Met with Reamonn Soto to review current design and identify opportunities to attract his 

company back to Tallahassee. Made connections with OEV to continue this process. 
c. EDA 

i. Efforts ongoing to complete EDA Site Certification. Received architect’s certification, and title 
search completed. General Counsel portion and final document should be completed next week. 

ii. 2nd quarter EDA Project Report submitted July 15 for June 30th. 
d. Program Development 

i. Bill and I met with FSU Career Center staff, and College of Engineering (COE) professor and his 
assistant interested in placing their students in internships or permanent positions. Identified 
professor’s history with UF startups and interest in working with the incubator. Subsequently 
toured COE facilities and asked question to help with NFIL design. 

ii. Worked with Bill and General Counsel on a draft intern agreement for future use. Bill is working 
with FSU Tech Fellows program to place interns with NFIL. 

e. Member Pipeline Development 
i. Contracted with consultant ($1,000) to assist with implementing HubSpot Customer Relationship 

Management System. Converted one incubator member from virtual membership to a resident 
membership to support the requirements of its SBIR grant application. Bill is working with 
another virtual member to do the same. Working to build energy in the incubator by getting more 
resident members. 

ii. New lab bench tenant for the Collins Building began June 1.  This is the third lab tenant. 

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 164 of 170



 

 

 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

   
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

   
 

 
 

  

 

Leon County R&D Authority 
Executive Director Report 

August 3, 2021 

Attachment L1 
Page 2 of 3

iii. Bill and I met with MagCorp to review current design and consider relocating their office to the 
current NFIL in the Collins Building. Proposal presented to occupy large incubator office and 
labs space. 

iv. Bill working with another prospect interested in an office and lab bench. 
v. Bill continuing to work with referral from FAMU interested in two offices and a large display 

area for their technology in the un-remodeled portion of Collins Building. Lease/NFIL 
Membership will be dependent on successful award of grant funding passthrough from FAMU 
beginning in the fall.  

2. Priority 1b: Financial Sustainability 
a. Working with OEV and Bill to define a scope of work for $150k in ARPA funding ($75k over two years). 

Has already been approved by City and County subject to final MOU with OEV.  
b. Bill is working with SBAN, FAMU and OEV on additional grant pass through opportunities. 
c. Requested schedule from Danfoss to begin planning for expenditure of OEV MOU funds ($805,000) 

based on expected construction milestone dates. First funding not available until after groundbreaking. 
Will look at options for additional Collins building finish updates. Schedule has not been finalized, but 
groundbreaking expected in October. 

d. Contracted with grant writer to assist with identification of grants and writing applications. 
e. Bill completed purchase of lab equipment for the $35,000 Knight grant before June 30. Report submitted. 

Delivery of equipment for use in Collins lab is forthcoming. 
f. Anthropology lease expires July 31, representing $194,000 per year in lease revenue. Move out is 

complete. 
g. Renewed Nhu Energy lease for another year.  

3. Programs/Media/PR/Community Relations 
a. Naomi’s last day was June 17. Worked with her to document project status and recurring project steps 

outline, closeout computer, and return of credit cards and keys. 
b. Recruited Karen Thurston-Chavez to be new Director of Marketing and Engagement. Started July 26th. 
c. Met virtually with State Representative Alexander to brief him on Innovation Park and current activities. 

Received offer to assist with Florida Job Growth Grant Fund application process. 
d. Spoke at a Rotary Club meeting June 2nd. Great reception including contact with Marjorie Turnbull. 
e. Participated in OEV stakeholders’ meetings.  
f. Tech Topics: Naomi held the June event focused on weather entrepreneurs. 
g. Tech Grant: Received 8 applications and selected 5 finalists.  Working on finalizing PR coaches to assist 

with pitch development. Pitch night will be held in October.  
h. Two meetings with FSU Provost Office, OEV and other community stakeholders to discuss remote 

worker attraction. 
i. Attended Chamber of Commerce luncheon regarding talent growth for the community. 
j. Updated AERO website to add North Florida Innovation Labs and update Innovation Park offerings. Will 

direct new DME to review these entries. 
k. Communicated FASTER ACT details to FSU Office of Research, MagLab, MagCorp and other partners 

related to legislative initiative potentially impacting national labs. 
l. Bill and I met with Prescient Consulting Group, a local firm which invests in early-stage companies, to 

visit their new offices discuss happenings at Innovation Park, and how we might help each other. 

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 165 of 170



 

 

 
 

 

 

  
 
 
 

  
 
 

Attachment L1 
Page 3 of 3

Leon County R&D Authority 
Executive Director Report 

August 3, 2021 

4. Miscellaneous 
a. Asphalt Paving RFP was posted, meeting held, and responses received.  Two firms responded, but both 

bids far exceeded budgeted amounts.  Executive committee referred RFP recommendation to Budget 
committee—action pending ratification by the BOG. 

b. FSU Interdisciplinary Research and Commercialization Building received final $23M in State funding 
needed to build the project.  Groundbreaking scheduled for August 2nd for Lot 4B.  

c. Received the survey for Danfoss’ 12 acre outparcel.  General counsel recorded the C&R Supplement to 
bring the parcel under the requirements of the C&R. 

d. Extended Insurance Broker Agreement for one year at the same annual fixed fee of $5,000. 
e. Began insurance application process for next fiscal year’s Property and Casualty insurance bids. 
f. Worked with Talcor to properly account for taxable group term life insurance fringe benefit. 
g. Discussed Board officer position openings with board members, securing next vice chair and treasurer 

nominees. 
h. Worked with Hancock Whitney Bank to setup online Treasury Management System. 
i. Drafted revisions to Bylaws and policies to address new Treasury Management System.  
j. Conducted Executive Committee and NFIL Oversight Committee meetings 

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 166 of 170



 

 

  

 

 
 

 
 

  
 

 
 

 

 

  
 
 

 
 

 

 

 
 

 
 

  
 
 

Attachment L2 
Page 1 of 1

Leon County Research & Development Authority 

Board of Governors Meeting August 2, 2021 

North Florida Innovation Labs Update 
Director, Bill Lickson 

Facility Design & Development: 
 Worked collaboratively with Ron Miller and the facility Planning & Design Teams 

to optimize space design including the interior design concepts. 
 Developed potential funding scenarios that might be needed related preliminary 

budget estimates. 
 Toured facilities and discussed “best practices” with lab subject matter experts. 

Membership & Programs: 
 Ongoing meetings and calls with North Florida Innovation Labs members & 

prospects. 
 Optimizing the utilization of the current lab and office spaces 
 Expecting 2-3 new office and lab companies to join North Florida Innovation Labs 

by September 

Administrative: 
 Worked with Executive Director Miller to complete the interviews for the LCRDA 

marketing position 
 Engaged vendor to install and launch HubSpot CRM marketing automation 

software and related processes 
 Evaluated current websites and marketing needs 
 Completed grants - Knight and FAMU REACH – including reporting 
 Ordered lab equipment funded through the $35,000 Knight Grant which will be 

delivered and installed in August 

Fundraising: 
 Collaborated with our contract grant writer and ecosystem partners to submit 

$150,000 SBA SBIR/STTR training & outreach grant 
 Received funding commitment from OEV for $150,000 to support 

“Entrepreneurial Training & Incubator Resources” for North Florida Innovation 
Labs 

 Worked with Executive Director Miller to submit a DEO grant for $6+ Million 
Dollars for North Florida Innovation Labs building construction 

 Researching other short & medium term Federal & other grant funding related to 
ARPA and other large foundations that support technology entrepreneurship 
programs and facilities – including new EDA funding 

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 

Page 167 of 170



   
 

 
   

 
   

   
   

     
 

   

 
 

 
 

 

 

NAI Talcor Property Manager’s Report to the 
Leon County R&D Authority Board of Governors 

6/1/2021‐7/31/2021 

Occupancy: 

Attachment L3 
Page 1 of 3

Building 
Leasable 

Square Feet 
Vacant 

Square Feet  % Vacant 
Phipps 14,661 0  0% 
Morgan  21,936 8,832 40% 
Johnson 28,385 0  0% 
Collins 18,435 15,439 84% 
Knight  1,512  516 34% 
Total  90,622  24,787  27% 

Non‐Routine Repairs & Maintenance: 

Building 
Completed Since Last 
Report  In Process Deferred/To Do 

Phipps  Inspection of life safety  Patch holes in EIFS located on 
exterior NE corner of the 
building. 

 Replace water fountain. 

 The irrigation system is not 
connected and has no 
backflow. 

items in preparation for 
Fire safety inspections by 
Tallahassee Fire Dept. 

 All batteries for 
emergency lighting have 
been tested and replaced 
as necessary. 

 HVAC maintenance has 
been completed. 

Morgan   Installed missing number 
plates for new tenant, 
CareerSource. 

 . Inspection of life safety 
items in preparation for 
Fire safety inspections by 
Tallahassee Fire Dept. 

 All batteries for 
emergency lighting have 
been tested and replaced 
as necessary. 

 HVAC maintenance has 
been completed. 

 Window washing and soft 
washing of the building. 

 Common areas ‐ Carpet 
cleaning and the interior of 
entrance ways. 

 Re‐pave parking lot 

1 
Leon County R&D Authority 

Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 
Page 168 of 170



   
 

 

 
 

 
   

  

 
   

 
  

 

  
     

  

 
  
  

 

 
  

   

 

 
   

 
  

 

 
   

 
 

 
   

 

 

 

 

     
 

    

   
  

 

NAI Talcor Property Manager’s Report to the 
Leon County R&D Authority Board of Governors 

6/1/2021‐7/31/2021 

Attachment L3 
Page 2 of 3

Building 
Completed Since Last 
Report  In Process Deferred/To Do 

Collins  Replace compressor in 
HVAC unit 20. 

  Inspection of life safety 
items in preparation for 
Fire safety inspections by 
Tallahassee Fire Dept. 

 All batteries for 
emergency lighting have 
been tested and replaced 
as necessary. 

 HVAC maintenance has 
been completed. 

 Maintenance continues to 
balance the HVAC in the 
building. 

 Maintenance pulling ceiling 
tiles in lab, replacing, and 
wrapping HVAC drain lines. 

 Relocate HVAC vent in lab. 
 Maintenance repairing all 
lights located in the hallways 
of the vacant area.  

 Re‐pave parking lot. 
 Repair walkways located on 
backside of the building near 
parking area. 

Johnson  Small leak in valve to Pre‐
action system for 
National Park Service. 

 Inspection of life safety 
items in preparation for 
Fire safety inspections by 
Tallahassee Fire Dept.  

 All batteries for 
emergency lighting have 
been tested and replaced 
as necessary. 

 HVAC maintenance has 
been completed. 

 Crack in water main 
plumbing line repaired. 

 Various small leaks to toilets 
in process of being repaired. 

 HVAC #5 full system 
replacement. System is a 4 
ton and has been ordered.  

 Missing up light on right side 
of Johnson building. 

 Re‐pave parking lot. 

Knight   Inspection of life safety 
items in preparation for 
Fire safety inspections by 
Tallahassee Fire Dept. 

 HVAC maintenance has 
been completed. 

 None  Exterior paint 
 Interior paint of common 
areas. 

Fuqua   Replace Exit sign.  Manager is working with FSU 
facilities to repair irrigation 
and install plants in planters.  

 Maintenance painting stairs.  

 Elevator updates. 

2 
Leon County R&D Authority 

Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 
Page 169 of 170



   
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  

 

 
 

 
    

 

  

 

     

   
       

 

 

 

    
 

  

    
  

NAI Talcor Property Manager’s Report to the 
Leon County R&D Authority Board of Governors 

6/1/2021‐7/31/2021 

Attachment L3 
Page 3 of 3

Building 
Completed Since Last 
Report  In Process Deferred/To Do 

Common   Washing of common area 
signs. Trash pickup and 
waste disposal of Central 
Pond walking trail. Wipe 
down of all benches. 

 Main entrance signs have 
been touched up with 
new paint. 

  Maintenance blows off all 
walkways, removes cobwebs, 
and wasps’ nests on a regular 
basis. 

 Replace damaged irrigation 
covers. 

 Repair wash out at culvert 
draining into the central 
pond. 

 None 

Accounts Receivable Past Due as of Report Date (30+days): 

Tenant 
Invoice 
Date 

Invoice 
Amount 

Last 
Contact 
Date 

Tenant Response/Date to be 
Paid/Comments 

None to Report 

Tenant Issues Encountered, Status of Other Outstanding Issues, Contract Procurements, Projects, 
Accounting issues, etc.: 

1. The elevator located in the Fuqua Center continues to malfunction. Several service calls have 
been completed for various small repairs. The VCT tiles have cracked and some are missing on 
the cab floor. 

2. Pressure washing of the Morgan building, along with The Fuqua Center was completed. The 
pressure washing for Phipps, Johnson, and Knight has been deferred. 

3. Tree trimming for Morgan, Johnson, Knight, and Collins, will take place in August. 
4. FSU Anthropology has moved out. A final move out tenant walk through will take place on July 

29th 2021. 

3 
Leon County R&D Authority 

Board of Governors Meeting | Aug. 3, 2021 
Page 170 of 170


	2021-08-03 BoG Agenda.pdf
	A- 2021-06-01 Approved DRAFT BoG mins.pdf
	B- 2021-08-03 Treasurers Report.pdf
	C1- Investment Rollforward 2021-05.pdf
	C2- Investment Rollforward 2021-06.pdf
	D1- 2021-07-14 NFIL Oversight REPORT.pdf
	D2- TUFF Proposal Summary 7.14.21.pdf
	E- 2021-07-20 Exec Comm REPORT.pdf
	F1- RFP 21-02 Response List.pdf
	F2- Response-North Florida Asphalt.pdf
	F3- Response-Capital Asphalt Inc.pdf
	F4- Budget_Comparison 2021-05.pdf
	F5- 2020-21 LCRDA Capital-Maintenance Budget Detail-Approved Final.pdf
	G1- AIE Equipment Invoice-Knight Grant.pdf
	G2- ACH Payment_Redacted.pdf
	G3- Knight Foundation Grant Report 2021.pdf
	G4- Knight Foundation Check_Redacted.pdf
	H-LCRDA Public Infrastructure Grant Proposal July 2021-FINAL.pdf
	Application Form
	Attachment A-Program Requirements
	Attachment B- 2020 Major-Employers
	Attachment C- Matching Funds
	Financial Assistance Award - CD-450 Leon County RDA - Signed
	FSU EDA Support Letter 2020-03-23
	LETTER_OEV to LCRDA re $2.5M Commitment 2020-07-09
	LCRDA Pledge Letter - 2019

	Attachment D-1 Innovation Park Map
	Attachment D-2 NFIL Plans and Elevations 8.5x11
	Attachment E- Budget Narrative
	Attachment F- Letter of Delegated Authority

	J1- Amended and Restated Bylaws.pdf
	J2- Internal Control & Operating Procedures Draft Rev 2021-08.pdf
	J3- 20-01 Investment Procedures and Internal Controls Manual Draft Rev 2021-08.pdf
	K- 2021 LCRDA Resolution Draft_Redacted.pdf
	L1- Executive Director Update 2021-08-03.pdf
	L2- Director of NFIL Report to BOG Aug 3  2021.pdf
	L3- PM REPORT  June - July 2021 FINAL.pdf



